
 

Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green 
 
Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB 
 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499 
 

 
 
 
 

 Please reply to:  
 Contact: Matthew Williams 
 Service: Committee Services 
 Direct Line: 01784 446224 
 E-mail: m.williams@spelthorne.gov.u

k 
 Date: 14 June 2023 

 
 

Notice of meeting 
 
 

Neighbourhood Services and Enforcement Committee 
 
 
Date: 
 

Thursday, 22 June 2023 

Time: 
 

7.00 pm 

Place: 
 

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Knowle Green, Staines-upon-Thames TW18 
1XB 

 
To the members of the Neighbourhood Services and Enforcement Committee 
 
Councillors: 
 
J.T.F. Doran (Chair) 
K. Rutherford (Vice-Chair) 
S. Bhadye 
 

M. Bing Dong 
T. Burrell 
J. Caplin 
 

D. Clarke 
N. Islam 
J.R. Sexton 
 

 
Substitute Members: Councillors C. Bateson, J. Button, S.M. Doran and J.Turner 
 
Councillors are reminded that the Gifts and Hospitality Declaration book will be available 
outside the meeting room for you to record any gifts or hospitality offered to you since the last 
Committee meeting. 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


 

 

Agenda 
 
 Page nos. 
 
 Terms of Reference 5 

 The Committee’s terms of reference are attached to assist. 
 

 

1.   Apologies and Substitutes 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutions. 
 

 

2.   Minutes 
 

7 - 8 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 29 March 2023 as a 
correct record. 
 

 

3.   Disclosures of Interest 
 

 

 To receive any disclosures of interest from members in accordance 
with the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

 

4.   Questions from members of the Public 
 

 

 The Chair, or their nominee, to answer any questions raised by 
members of the public in accordance with Standing Order 40. 
 
At the time of publication of this agenda no questions were received. 
 

 

5.   Ward Issues 
 

 

 To consider any issues raised by ward councillors in accordance with 
Standing Order 34.2 
 
At the time of publication of this agenda no ward issues were received. 
 

 

6.   Joint Enforcement Team- Environmental Crime Enforcement 
Policy 
 

9 - 72 

 To consider the report on the adoption of the Joint Enforcement Team 
– Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy. 
 

 

7.   240m Boardwalk down the Eastern Bank of the River Ash 
Improvement Site 
 

73 - 78 

 To consider the report on the tendering process for the procurement of 
the River Ash Boardwalk. 
 

 

8.   Forward Plan 
 

79 - 80 

 To consider the Forward Plan for committee business.  
 



NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES AND ENFORCEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
Membership  
 
9 members reflecting political balance.  
 
Functions  
 
This committee has responsibility for the following functions of the Council:  
 

• Street cleansing services  

• Street Scene  

• Waste strategy and management  

• Parking Services  

• Parks, open spaces and allotments  

• Building Control  

• Cemeteries  

• Community safety and crime & disorder  

• Civil Enforcement (JET)  

• Workplace Health & Safety enforcement of businesses in the 
community  

• Licensing matters save for those specifically reserved to the Licensing 
Committee,  

• Environmental health functions including food safety, housing 
conditions and pollution control, with the exception of air quality and 
contaminated land.  

• Planning enforcement  

• To monitor and review relevant Council policies and strategies and 
recommend changes or new policies to the Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee.  

• To review and scrutinise service delivery and in particular ensuring that 
best value in service delivery is being obtained for the community.  

• To undertake scrutiny and monitor the performance of external bodies 
who deliver services to the community  

• To review and scrutinise budget proposals and make 
recommendations to the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee. 

Page 3

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Neighbourhood Services and Enforcement Committee 
29 March 2023 

 
 

Present: 

Councillor R.O. Barratt (Chairman) 
Councillor J.R. Sexton (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillors: 
 

J.T.F. Doran 

 

S.J Whitmore 

 

  

 

 

Substitutions: Councillors C. Bateson (In place of R.D. Dunn) 

 

 

Apologies: Councillors C.F. Barnard and R.D. Dunn 

 
 

11/23   Apologies and Substitutes  
 

Apologies were received from Councillor Barnard and Councillor Richard 
Dunn. 
 
Councillor Bateson attended as Councillor Dunn’s substitute.  
 
Councillor Gething had been nominated as substitute for Councillor Barnard, 
but was unable to attend. 
 

12/23   Minutes  
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 05 January 2023 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

13/23   Disclosures of Interest  
 

There were none. 
 

14/23   Questions from members of the Public  
 

There were none. 
 

15/23   Ward Issues  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Neighbourhood Services and Enforcement Committee, 29 March 2023 - continued 

 

 
 

There were none. 
 

16/23   SEP 2025  
 

The Group Head of Neighbourhood Services presented the report on adoption 
of SEP 2025. 
 
The Committee resolved to agree to the adoption of SEP 2025 as produced 
by officers and members of the SEP 2025 steering group. 
 

17/23   Road Channel Sweeping  
 

The Group Head of Neighbourhood Services presented the report on road 
channel sweeping. The report had been requested as a discussion point for 
this meeting. 
 
The Committee acknowledged that due to high levels of parking in many 
roads across the borough there were significant challenges in cleaning 
effectively and that solutions needed to be considered for those roads.  
 
The Group Head of Neighbourhood Services identified that some councillors 
were working with residents to arrange a time when all cars could be moved 
from a particular street to enable the sweepers to get full access. This option 
was viewed as being very cost effective. The Committee agreed that this was 
a good solution for some roads. 
 
The Committee queried what the criteria was when identifying which roads 
were included on the leafing schedule. The Committee were informed that it 
was roads that were predominantly tree-lined. 
 
The Committee resolved to note the report on Road Channel Sweeping. 
 

18/23   Forward Plan  
 

The Committee received the forward plan for future committee business. 
 
The Committee requested that the report on Road Channel Sweeping be 
added to the September meeting of the Committee to be re-considered and 
requested additional options be included for discussion.  
 
The Committee resolved to note the forward plan with the additional item 
agreed at the meeting. 
 

Page 6



  

 
 

Neighbourhood Services and Enforcement 

Committee   

22 June 2023 

 

1. Summary of the report 

1.1 This report seeks to ensure that this new Environmental Crime Enforcement 
Policy brings together all the various legislative acts, byelaws, and guidance 
(as can be seen from the background papers below) into one clear and 
concise policy. If this policy is adopted by committee, it will inform 
Spelthorne’s residents and businesses of all the Environmental Offences that 
the Council’s JET investigate and the penalties if offences are committed and 
detected.  

2. Key issues 

2.1 The Joint Enforcement Team came into operation in December 2014 prior to 
that there was little by way of any meaningful Neighbourhood Services 
enforcement. The JET team undertake many Environmental Crime 
investigations and prior to this proposed new policy there had not been one in 
place. Currently all investigations rely on various central government 
documents providing guidance on the investigation of various Environmental 

Title Joint Enforcement Team- Environmental Crime Enforcement 
Policy 

Purpose of the report To make a decision 

 

Report Author Martin Cole Joint Enforcement and Community Safety Team 
Leader 

Ward(s) Affected All Wards 

 

Exempt No     

Exemption Reason N/A 

Corporate Priority Environment 

 

Recommendations 

 

Committee is asked to: 

Adopt the Joint Enforcement Team – Environmental Crime 
Enforcement Policy at Appendix 1 of this report. 

 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

This new policy pulls together all Environmental Enforcement 
offences currently dealt with by JET officers and shows the levels 
of enforcement available and the relevant case disposal. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 
 

crimes and the issuing of fixed penalty notices. This policy brings together all 
these strands in relation to Council responsibilities for the investigation of 
Environmental Crime, the investigations themselves, and the result of those 
investigations into one overarching document which if adopted and published 
can serve to inform the Council’s residents of the Policy and what they can 
expect from it. 

 

3. Options analysis and proposal 

3.1 The following decision options are available for consideration by the 
Committee: 

Option 1 Preferred option 

The Neighbourhood Services and Enforcement Committee adopt the Policy 
which will allow the JET to operate a consistent approach to maintain a clean, 
safe environment and strengthen the Authority’s approach to tackling 
Environmental crime within the borough of Spelthorne. 

Option 2 

The Committee do not adopt this Policy and the service will continue working 
from separate guidance policies provided by central Government for both 
environmental crime and ASB issues. 

Option 1 is recommended for the following reasons: 

The policy brings together all enforcement options for Environment Crime 
under one policy, to ensure a consistent approach in dealing with all 
Environmental Crime that the JET currently deal with. 

 

4. Financial implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with delivering and managing 
the Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy. 

 

5. Risk considerations 

5.1 There are no risks associated with this policy. It is, however, important for the 
reputation of the Authority that the officers work from an up-to-date policy in 
line with current legislation and that is published on Spelthorne Borough 
Council’s website. 

 

6. Procurement considerations 

6.1 There are no procurement implications directly arising from this report. 

7. Legal considerations 

7.1 The policy document has been reviewed by Spelthorne Borough Councils 
legal team and all the requested amendments have been accepted. 

7.2 The policy document has also been reviewed by the Council’s Data Protection 
Officer who is satisfied that the relevant parts of the policy comply with the 
relevant Data Protection Act and UK GDPR. 

Page 8



 
 

 

8. Other considerations 

8.1 There are no other matters to be considered arising from this report. 

9. Equality and Diversity 

9.1 The Council aims to be consistent and even-handed in all regards. The taking 
of any enforcement action to deal with members of the public for 
Environmental offences is not intended to have either a positive or negative 
impact upon equality or diversity or apply differently to any group. 

9.2 A full equality impact assessment has been conducted and is shown at 
Appendix 2. 

10. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

10.1 There are no sustainability or climate change implications directly arising from 
this report. But there are as I would anticipate that a new policy should have 
the effect of less people committing Environmental Crime. 

 

11. Timetable for implementation 

11.1 If the committee agree to adopt this new policy, it will be uploaded to the 
Council website as soon as possible and published on all social media 
channels. 

 

12. Contact 

12.1 Martin Cole JET and Community Safety Team Leader – 01784-448635 

 
Background papers:  
 

Litter and Refuse Council Responsibilities-  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/litter-and-refuse-council-responsibilities-to-keep-
land-clear 
Fly-tipping Council Responsibilities- 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/fly-tipping-council-responsibilities 
Abandoned Vehicles Council Responsibilities- 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/abandoned-vehicles-council-responsibilities 

 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 
 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 
 Section 215 Town and Country Planning Act Section 22 (3) 

Control of Pollution Act 1974 
 General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
 Equalities Act 2010 
 Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
 Human Rights Act 1998 
 Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
 

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/litter-and-refuse-council-responsibilities-to-keep-land-clear
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/litter-and-refuse-council-responsibilities-to-keep-land-clear
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/fly-tipping-council-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/abandoned-vehicles-council-responsibilities


 
 

 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Joint Enforcement Team- Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 
 
Appendix B – Equality Impact Assessment Form 
 

Page 10



Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy  

 
 

Appendix 1  

 

SPELTHORNE 
BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Joint Enforcement Team- Environmental Crime 

Enforcement Policy 
 
 

 
Version 

 
V1 

 
Date Drafted 

 
14/04/2023 

 
Date Issued 

 

 
Document Status 

 
Issued 

 
Document Adoption Date 

 

 
Review Frequency 

 
Annually 

 
Owner 

 
Martin Cole 

 
Authors 

 
Martin Cole 

 
Authorised by 

 
Jackie Taylor 

 
 

 

Joint Enforcement Team 

(JET) The White House 

Depot Kingston Road 

Ashford 

TW15 3SE 

Page 11



Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy  

Contents 
 
 

1. 

2. 

2.1. 

2.2. 

2.3. 

2.4. 

2.5. 
3. 

3.1. 

3.2. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

6.1. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

11. 

11.1. 

11.2. 

11.3. 

11.4. 

11.5. 

11.6. 

11.7. 

11.8 

11.9 

11.10 

12. 

12.1. 

12.2. 

12.3. 

12.4 

13. 

13.1. 

13.2. 

14. 

15. 

16. 

17. 

18. 

19. 

20. 

21. 

Introduction ........................................................................................................... 3 

Enforcement Options ......................................................................................... 4 

No Action ............................................................................................................. 4 

Informal Action ................................................................................................... 4 

Fixed Penalty Notices ......................................................................................... 4 

Simple Cautions ................................................................................................. 6 

Prosecutions ....................................................................................................... 7 

Corporate Priorities and Values ........................................................................ 8 

Consideration prior to taking Enforcement Action ............................................8 

Request for Personal Details by an Authorised Officer ..................................11 

Evidence ............................................................................................................ 12 

Persistent Offenders........................................................................................... 13 

Juveniles (person aged under 17) .................................................................... 13 

Vulnerable Persons ......................................................................................... 14 

Payment of Fixed Penalties .............................................................................. 14 

Non-payment of Fixed Penalties ...................................................................... 15 

Authorisation....................................................................................................... 15 

External Partners............................................................................................... 15 

Core Offences ................................................................................................... 16 

Pedestrian Litter ................................................................................................ 16 

Abandoning a Vehicle ...................................................................................... 17 

Nuisance Vehicles .............................................................................................. 18 

Dog Control PSPO.............................................................................................. 19 

Graffiti ............................................................................................................... 20 

Fly-Posting ......................................................................................................... 20 

Fly-Tipping ......................................................................................................... 22 

Duty of Care Offences - Commercial ............................................................... 24 

Industrial and Commercial Waste ................................................................... 24 

Breach of Duty of Care - Householders .......................................................... 25 

Control of Litter and Refuse ............................................................................. 26 

Community Protection Notices ......................................................................... 27 

Controlling the Distribution of Free Literature ................................................ 29 

Abandoned Shopping Trolleys .......................................................................... 29 

Psychoactive  Substances PSPO ..................................................................... 29 

Spelthorne Borough Council byelaws ............................................................ 30 

River Thames Moorings .................................................................................. 30 

Abandoned Boats or Vessels ......................................................................... 32 

Current and Future Legislation ....................................................................... 32 

Protecting Our Staff .......................................................................................... 33 

Media Arrangements ........................................................................................ 33 

Recovering of Costs ........................................................................................ 33 

Equality and Diversity ....................................................................................... 33 

Customer Feedback and Complaints ............................................................. 34 

Monitoring and Review of Policy ........................................................................ 34 

Appendix- Current Spelthome Borough Council byelaws .................................. 35 

Page 12



3 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 

1. Introduction 

 
This policy sets out the general principles that the Council intends to follow in 

relation to the enforcement and prosecution of environmental crimes 

investigated by Spelthorne Borough Council's Joint Enforcement Team (JET). 

 
In the first instance, the Council's preferred action is to secure compliance 

through education and information. Enforcement action will require authorised 

officers to follow set procedures and protocols to ensure consistency in the 

collection of evidence and the enforcement actions applied. These actions 

represent a zero tolerance to environmental crime but will not always require 

prosecution action. 

 
Publicity for the policies and procedures in place will be ongoing with 

appropriate leaflets, posters, articles in Council publications, web pages and 

school education. Enforcement action should only be taken if there is evidence 

of an offence having taken place and, in those circumstances, where 

individuals or businesses commit serious breaches, flout the law, where it 

would otherwise have an adverse effect upon community confidence, where 

the offence although not serious in of itself is widespread in the area, or where 

the offender refuses to work with us to seek compliance. 

 

If the Council receives information that an environmental crime is or will take 

place, then this will be reported to the Police using the relevant partner 

intelligence form and if possible mobile CCTV will be deployed to the area along 

with the requisite signs with a view to disrupting the activity or obtaining 

evidence sufficient for enforcement action to be considered. 

 
The Council has the power to take appropriate enforcement action against 

persons that commit a variety of environmental crimes. The following are the 

core offences upon which action will be taken, although not exclusive: 

 
• Littering (including littering from vehicles) 

• Abandoned and nuisance vehicles 

• Dog Fouling 

• Fly tipping 

• Graffiti/Flyposting 

• Duty of care offences- Business and household 

• Dog Control and Psychoactive substances PSPO offence 

• Waste carrier licence and waste transfer notice offences 

• Scrap Metal Collector offences 

• Failure to comply with a Community Protection Notice 

 
This list is not exhaustive and represents the most common offences and may 

be added to as legislation is updated or amended. 

Page 13



4 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

2. Enforcement Options 

2.1. No Action 
 

In some cases, no action will be taken, and these are cases where there is little 

or no evidence or where the offender has fully co-operated with information 

given in accordance with the Enforcement Policy. In all cases the offender will 

be advised in writing of the decision. 

 
2.2. Informal Action 

 
Informal action includes verbal or written warnings and requests for remedial 

action. It may involve offering advice, information, and assistance to ensure 

compliance with legislation. 

 
Informal action will be taken when one or more of the following apply: 

 
• The act or omission is not serious enough to warrant formal action 

• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to 

public health 

• Confidence in the individual/business management is high 

• Past history indicates that informal action is likely to achieve compliance 

• Other mitigating circumstances apply 

 
When an informal approach is used, any written warning should contain the 

following information: date, time and location of the alleged offence, personal 

details of the alleged offender, the nature of the offence and relevant 

legislation. It should also contain all information to understand what work is 

required and the reasons. The warning should be signed and dated upon 

issuing by the investigating officer. 

 
2.3. Fixed Penalty Notices 

 
It is not the intention of this policy to be prescriptive as to when a fixed penalty 

notice should be issued; authorised officers must consider each set of 

circumstances when reaching a decision to ascertain if the issue of a fixed 

penalty notice is appropriate. A fixed penalty notice (FPN) may only be issued 

where an officer has reason to believe a person has committed a relevant 

offence and that there is sufficient evidence to provide a reasonable prospect of 

conviction if prosecuted. If a notice is unpaid, then the only recourse would be to 

prosecute the individual for the offence. 

 
A FPN may be issued to persons who have committed a small-scale relevant 

offence; payment of the FPN will discharge the original offence for which the 

individual cannot then be prosecuted, provided that full payment is received 

within the specified period. 

Page 14



5 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

FPNs provide enforcement agencies with an effective and visible way of 

responding to low level environmental crime. The public generally welcomes 

the use of FPNs provided they are issued sensibly, enforced even-handedly, 

and are seen as a response to a genuine problem. 

 
FPNs will not normally be issued to juveniles (see Section 8) 

 
It is essential for the issuing of a fixed penalty notice that the authorised officer 

collects adequate evidence to support any legal proceedings if the notice is 

returned unpaid. 

 
The current list of Environmental Offences for which authorised officers 

issue a fixed penalty notice are shown at the end of this section. 

The fixed penalty notice must contain the following information: date, time and 

location of the offence, personal details of the offender, the nature of the 

offence and relevant legislation, and be signed and dated upon issuing by an 

authorised officer. 

 
The notice will clearly state that by opting to pay the fixed penalty the Council 

will take no legal action for the prescribed offence, providing that the payment 

is received within 14 days of the issuing of the notice. 

 
 

Current Environmental Crime Enforcement FPN Levels 
 

Description of offences Act Fixed 

Penalty 
amount 

Maximum Penalty on 

conviction 

Depositing Litter 

(Includes illegal 

disposal of waste) 

Section 87/88 

Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 

£80 £2,500 

Fly Tipping Section 33(1) 

Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 

£400 Magistrates Court an 

unlimited fine or 12 

months 

imprisonment. 

Crown Court an unlimited 

fine or up to 5 years 
imprisonment. 

Graffiti Section 43(1) Anti- 

Social 
Behaviour Act 2003 

£80 Dependent on legislation 

used 

Fly Posting Section 43(1) Anti- 

Social 
Behaviour Act 2003 

£80 £2,500 

Sale of two or more 

vehicles on the highway 

within 500 metres 

Part 2 Section 3 Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environmental Act 2005 

£100 £2,500 

Page 15



6 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

Repair of vehicles on 

the highway 

Part 2 Section 4 Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environmental Act 2005 

£100 £2,500 

Unauthorised 

distribution of free 

printed matter 

Schedule 3A, paras 1(1) 

and 7 Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 

£80 £2,500 

Breach of duty of care 

in relation to controlled 

waste 

Section 34(1) 

Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 

£300 Unlimited fine 

Breach of duty of care 

in relation to Household 
waste 

Section 34(2A) 

Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 

£200 Magistrates and 

Crown Court 

unlimited fine 

Failure to produce 

Waste Transfer Note(s) 

Part 5 CNEA 2005. 

Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 and 

Regulation 35 of the 

waste (England and 

Wales) Regulations 
2011, Section 34(5) 

£300 Unlimited fine 

Failure to produce 

Waste Carriers Licence 

Section 58(2) of the 

control of Pollution Act 
1989 

£300 Unlimited fine 

Abandoning a vehicle Part 2 CNEA 2005 

Refuse 

Disposal Amenity Act 

1978 

£200 £2,500 

Failing to comply with 

a Community 

Protection Notice 

Section 48 Anti-social 

behaviour, Crime and 

Policing Act 2014 

£100 £2,500 Individual 

 
£20,000  Business 

 
 

 

2.4. Simple Cautions 
 

The Council may consider the offer of a simple caution. The purpose of a 

caution is to. 

 
• Deal quickly and simply with less serious offences 

• Divert less serious offences away from the courts 

• Reduce the chance of repeat offences 

 
As with all types of enforcement action, the alleged offender will be required to 

supply the officer with their personal details. These details cannot be used to 

issue any other type of enforcement action for that offence; however, they can be 

used in conjunction with future enforcement action. 

 
The decision whether to offer a simple caution or higher-level enforcement 

action will relate to the nature of the offence and the attitude of the alleged 

Page 16



7 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

offender. 

 
 

The following conditions must be fulfilled before a caution is administered: 

 
• There must be evidence of the alleged offender's guilt sufficient to 

provide a realistic prospect of conviction 

• The alleged offender must admit the offence 

• The alleged offender must understand the significance of a caution and give 

informed consent to be cautioned 

 
If there is insufficient evidence to prosecute, then a simple caution will not be 

considered. 

 
There is no legal obligation for a person to accept the offer of a caution and no 

pressure should be applied to the person to accept one, however full 

information will be disclosed to the offender as to the consequences of the 

refusal. If an offender refuses to accept a simple caution, a prosecution should 

normally be pursued. 

 
Simple cautions must contain the following information: date, time and location 

of the alleged offence, personal details of the alleged offender, the nature of 

the offence and relevant legislation. It must be signed and dated by an 

authorised officer and must be issued using a notice which also includes the 

signature of the offender agreeing to accept a caution. 

 
The Group Head Neighbourhood Services or nominated deputy will be authorised 

to issue simple cautions. 

 

2.5. Prosecution 
 

In certain cases, prosecution through the courts may be the most appropriate 

course of action, or where other enforcement actions have had no effect. 

 
A prosecution will likely follow when: 

 
• A Fixed Penalty Notice is issued to an alleged offender is unpaid after the 

14-day payment period. 

• An offence is of a size or nature where other enforcement actions are 

insufficient. 

• Previous actions have failed and there is no option for other enforcement 

action. 

• The nature of the offence is deemed to be in the interest of the public. 

• The offence has a serious or significant impact on the environment. 

 
In all cases considered for prosecution the evidence of the offence must 

provide a realistic prospect of conviction in Court and be in the public interest 

to prosecute an alleged offender. The Group Head of Corporate Governance 

Page 17



8 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

or nominated deputy is authorised to instigate legal proceedings after thorough 

consideration by the Council's legal representatives of the file. 

3. Corporate Priorities and Values 
 

The Council takes the following corporate priorities and values into 

consideration when determining the expediency and necessity of 

enforcement action against Environmental Offences. 

 
The priorities for the 2021 - 2023 focus on: 

 
C - Community 

A - Affordable housing 

R- Recovery 

E - Environment 

S - Service delivery 

Our values, ethos and ways of working will inform and underpin 

everything that we do: 

P - Pride in our Council, communities, and Borough 

R - Responsive and flexible 

0 - Open and accountable 

V - Value for money 

I - Integrity 

D - Dependable 

E - Empowering communities 

Our priorities and values are outlined in more detail in the Corporate 

Plan 2021 - 2023 which can be found here: 

https://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16732/Corporate-publications 

 
Underlying this policy are the principles of: - 

 
- proportionality in applying the law and securing compliance. 

- consistency of approach. 

- transparency about how the Service operates. 

- accountability in accordance with the guidance provided by central. 

government. 

- and targeting of enforcement action. 

Page 18

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16732/Corporate-publications


9 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Proportionality 

Proportionality means related enforcement action to the risks. Those 

whom the law protects and those on whom it places duties, authorised 

officers expect that action taken by enforcing authorities, to achieve 

compliance, should be proportionate to any risks to public health, safety, 

the environment, the rights of others and to the seriousness of any 

breach or offence. 

 

Consistency 

Consistency means taking a similar approach in similar circumstances 

so that any person being investigated or dealt with by our officers would 

expect a certain level of consistency from an enforcing authority when: 

 
i. Issuing words of advice, verbal warnings or taking no further action 

ii. Written warnings 

iii. Issuing Fixed Penalty Notices 

iv. Simple Caution 

v. Deciding to prosecute 

 

Transparency 

Transparency is about the Council being open and clear about its 

enforcement activities and in particular helping authorised officers, and 

individuals understand what is expected of them and what they can 

expect from the Service. It also means making it clear about what they 

must do, but also, where this is relevant, what they do not have to do. 

That means distinguishing between what is a statutory requirement as 

opposed to what is advice or guidance about best practice. 

 

 

Accountability 

Accountability means that authorised officers should be responsible for 

their enforcement actions and conduct. They should undertake their 

duties in a courteous and efficient manner and procedures are in place 

to allow individuals the opportunity to provide feedback and make 

complaints about the standard of service. 

 

Targeting 

Targeting means making sure that enforcement is targeted primarily on 

those whose activities give rise to the most serious risk or where the 

hazards are least well controlled. The Environmental risk will ensure that 

action is focused on the Council officers who are responsible for the risk 

and best placed to control it by the effective use of Enforcement tools 

and powers. 

Page 19



10 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

3.1. Consideration prior to taking enforcement action 

 
Several factors must be taken into consideration prior to any enforcement action. 

 
Human Rights Act 1998 

 
When deciding whether to take enforcement action, the Council will pay due 

regard to the Human Rights Act 1998 and to the requirement not to act in a way 

which is incompatible with any relevant convention rights which are the right to a 

fair trial, right to respect for private and family life, prohibition of discrimination 

and protection of property. These rights are qualified rights which means that, 

when considering enforcement action, the Council will balance the rights of those 

who may have committed an Environmental offence against those affected by 

the offence, including the community at large. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 

 
A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to- 

 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 

is prohibited by or under this Act. 

 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
For the purposes of the provisions of this Section, pregnancy and maternity, age, 

gender reassignment, disability, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 

orientation are all protected characteristics. That question in every case is 

whether the decision maker has in substance had due regard to the relevant 

statutory need, to see whether the duty has been performed. 

 
The Council's obligation is to have due regard to the need to achieve these goals 

in making its decisions. Due regard means to have such regard as is appropriate 

in all the circumstances. 

 
The Council must consider if formal enforcement action to remedy harm is wholly 

appropriate and proportionate. If an Environmental Crime requires further 

investigation, then the subsequent investigation must be proportionate. 

 
In any event, if human rights or public sector equality rights are potentially 

affected, the Council must consider that the public interest factors outweigh any 

potential interference. 

 
Enforcement action will be generally retrospective to the alleged offence being 

committed although minor breaches of the regulations if witnessed at the time 

can be dealt with by way of words of advice or a verbal warning. Informal actions 

Page 20



11 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
such as words of advice and verbal warnings will be recorded by an Officer in his 

official notebook. 

 
The Council's standard procedure (subject to the above legislation) will be to 

issue Fixed Penalty Notices, Community Protection Notices, Warnings and 

Simple Cautions, Interview under caution requirement to attend the Council 

Offices or interview under caution letter through the post. Delivery will be by 

recorded delivery or hand delivered. 

 
It is therefore essential that the evidence and information collected by the 

investigating officer must be of an adequate standard to support any resultant 

legal action (paragraph 4 applies) 

 

3.2. Request for Personal Details by an Authorised Officer: 
 

Authorised officers investigating offences to which this policy applies are entitled to 

ask a person suspected of committing such an offence to provide their name and 

address. If a person refuses to provide their name and address or provides a 

name and address that the authorised officer reasonably believes to be false, 

then the authorised officer should contact the Police and ask that a Police Officer 

or Police Community Support Officer attend and make the request to the person 

again. 

Failing to supply a name and address or giving a false name and address to a 

Police Officer or PCSO is an offence Contrary to S.50 Police Reform Act 2002 

and if the Police consider prosecution, then if convicted a person may be liable 

to a fine not exceeding £1000 (current level 3 scale). 

If a person under investigation has provided a name and address then 

confirmation of their identity can be confirmed through the Electoral Register 

where personal details can be checked against the electoral roll (but this will 

not include juveniles), company records. Where appropriate, assistance from 

partners may be required via use of the services provided by National Anti-­ 

Fraud Network (NAFN) which can provide Officer's with DVLA registered 

keeper checks and Experian type checks on Individuals to ascertain a current 

address and date of birth. These checks are subject to the relevant criteria as 

laid down by NAFN and must be complied with, these checks and usage of the 

systems are subject to regular audits. Upon confirmation of the alleged 

offender's personal details, the appropriate enforcement action can then be 

taken. 

 

The Data Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulations 

- The Council is the data controller for this data which will be processed under 

the lawful basis for processing of Legal Obligation or Public Task (depending 

on the circumstances) and retained in accordance with our retention schedule 

which is available on the council's website see below hyper-link for the current 

schedules. 
 

https://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16835/Retention-Schedules 
 

Page 21

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16835/Retention-Schedules
http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16835/Retention-Schedules


12 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

4. Evidence 
 

Evidence is the key to the enforcement procedure. The recording and storage of 

this evidence must be carried out in a concise and consistent manner and in 

accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act to ensure its admissibility 

in Court. Evidence collected by investigating officers will come in various forms, 

from various sources and, dependent on its quality, could be used in a variety of 

enforcement actions. 

 
A locked evidence room will be used. All evidence will be clearly logged and 

recorded and held in accordance with provisions of the Data Protection Act 

2018 and UK General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

 
Evidence that is obtained by an investigating officer 'in the field' will be 

recorded contemporaneously in ink in a PACE notebook. All entries must be 

clear and precise. 

 
Evidence obtained by use of Body Worn Cameras or CCTV will be in accordance 

with existing policy and procedure. 

 
Evidence may also be in the form of: 

 
• Addressed documents 

Evidence gathered in relation to an offence, can come in the form of an 

addressed document, which may relate to the person believed to have 

committed the offence (e.g., when household waste is found to be fly 

tipped, an investigating officer will search the waste for any documentation 

which may relate to the person responsible). Any relevant evidence found 

will be photographed in situ where practicable and then seized and 

exhibited. 

 
• Witness statement from an investigating officer 

When enforcement action is taken against an alleged offender, where an 

investigating officer has witnessed the offence occurring, that officer will 

have to produce a witness statement. 
 

• Witness statement from other persons 

Evidence received from members of the public can be used to issue formal 

cautions, Fixed Penalty Notices, or other enforcement action. For the 

evidence to be of value the witness must be willing to attend court to give 

evidence if that becomes necessary. Any statement made by a witness 

must be signed and dated by the witness and witnessed by the authorised 

officer at the time of taking of the statement. Statements will be recorded 

on forms prepared to comply with evidential procedures. 
 

• Interview of alleged offenders 

The Police and Criminal Evidence (PACE) Codes of Practice require any 

person interviewed regarding his involvement or suspected involvement in 

Page 22



13 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
a criminal offence must be under caution, otherwise the evidence will be 

inadmissible in court. This caution must be carried out before any questions 

are put to the person suspected of the offence regarding the offence. 

PACE interviews will only be undertaken by trained persons and included in 

staff training plans. 
 

No juvenile (a person aged under 17) or mentally impaired person (as 

defined by Section 1A of the Mental Health Act 1983) should be 

interviewed without an appropriate adult being present. This could include 

parent, social worker, or carer. 
 

• Interview under caution by letter 

It may be necessary to try to interview the suspect by way of 

correspondence. In this way it will be possible to write to the suspect under 

caution asking them relevant questions, providing them with copies of any 

evidence, photos etc. that the Council seek to rely on and giving them a 

time by which to reply. 

 

5. Persistent Offenders 
 

To ensure that the enforcement procedure is fair and consistent, persistent 

offenders will be dealt with as follows. 

 
Where an informal action has been recorded on a previous occasion, and a 

further offence is committed on a separate occasion, no further warnings will be 

issued. 

 
Where a simple caution has been issued on a previous occasion, and a further 

offence is committed on a separate occasion, no further cautions will be issued. 

On acceptance of the caution, the alleged offender understands that any future 

infringement of the law will result in further enforcement action. In these cases, 

the next likely course of action would be to either issue a Fixed Penalty notice or 

institute legal proceedings. 

 
A person may be issued with up to two Fixed Penalty Notices in total. If found to 

have infringed the law on a third separate occasion no further penalty notices will 

be served upon that person (except in very exceptional circumstances) and court 

proceedings will be instigated. 

 

6. Juveniles (person aged under 17) 
 

When a juvenile is alleged to have committed an offence the name, address, 

age, and date of birth of the suspected offender should be obtained, together with 

the name and address of his or her parent or legal guardian. Once the age of the 

offender has been ascertained, the correct course of action can then be followed. 

 
For offenders between 10 and 15 years old, The Department of Environment, 

Page 23



14 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) guidelines state that a fixed penalty should not 

normally be issued in the first instance. Alleged offenders under 10 are below 

the current age of criminal responsibility, but if such an offender has been 

identified then efforts must be made to inform the child's parents. 

 
Legally Fixed Penalty Notices can be issued to anyone over the age of 10 and 

authorities are recommended to adopt special procedures for issuing notices to 

young offenders. This ensures that they are acting in accordance with their duty 

under the Children Act 2004, which requires that authorities have regard to the 

need to safeguard and uphold the welfare of children and to seek the introduction 

of a non-financial, non-criminal, restorative justice scheme as an alternative to 

FPN payment. 

 
For offenders aged 16 or 17 years old, a Fixed Penalty Notice can be issued 

using the same procedure as for adults. 

 

6.1. Vulnerable Persons 
 

Applying enforcement options 
 

When deciding which enforcement option to apply, several factors need to be 

considered, including: the seriousness of the offence, previous conduct of the 

offender, likelihood to re-offend and impact of the offence on others. 

In certain circumstances outlined below, further consideration will be given to the 

appropriate action that should be taken in relation to an offence. 

 
Dealing with vulnerable people 

 

It is recognised that normal enforcement procedures are not appropriate in all 

circumstances, and that individual circumstances such as mental health, 

disability issues must be considered when deciding on any appropriate action. 

 
 

7. Payment of Fixed Penalties 
 

When a Fixed Penalty Notice has been issued, the alleged offender has 14 

days within which to make the full payment amount. Spelthorne Borough 

Council do not offer a discounted rate for Environmental FPN's. 

 
Payment of the fixed penalty notice will normally be made in one of three ways: 

• by debit or credit card over the phone to the Council Offices 

• by cheque or postal order through the post 

• Via the- Pay a fixed penalty notice FPN option on www.spelthorne.gov.uk 

 
Payment of FPN by instalments will not normally be accepted. A l t h ou gh  

Instalments may be allowed where demonstrable hardship is proven. 

 
Appeals cannot be made against the issue of a Fixed Penalty Notice. This is 

Page 24

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/


15 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 

because the issue of such a penalty requires an admission of guilt on behalf 

of the alleged offender and the notice allows the offender to avoid any further 

liability in respect of an alleged offence once paid. If a Fixed Penalty Notice is 

challenged or disputed, then as shown below the matter should be treated as 

one of non-payment and consideration given to legal proceedings being 

instituted. 

 

8. Non-payment of Fixed Penalties 
 

If a Fixed Penalty Notice remains unpaid after the 14-day period has elapsed, 

the alleged offender will be sent a reminder letter. This letter will state the terms 

of the penalty payment, along with a copy of the original FPN, and the fact that 

the deadline has now passed. 

 
If the Fixed Penalty Notice remains unpaid for a further period of 14 days after the 

reminder letter, then, a file will be put together to enable legal proceedings to be 

instigated. All unpaid penalties will normally be followed up by legal proceedings. 

 

 

9. Authorisation 
 

The statutes enforced by the Council require that the enforcement officers be 

duly authorised. 

 
Authorised officers will be either: 

 
i) an employee of the Council who is authorised in writing by the Council for 

the purpose of giving notices under the relevant legislation. 

ii) any person who, in pursuance of arrangements made with the Council, 

has the function of giving such notices and is authorised in writing by the 

Council to perform that function; or 

iii) any employee of such a person who is authorised in writing by the 

authority for the purpose of giving such notices. 

 
It is essential that officers are correctly authorised, so that any action taken on 

behalf of the Council is lawful. Authorised officers will be trained on how to gather 

evidence that will be in accordance with judicial requirements and on conflict 

avoidance techniques when dealing with alleged offenders. 

 
The authorisation will identify the officer by name and position, will describe the 

legislation that the officer is authorised to enforce and will be signed by a 

delegated senior officer on behalf of the Council. 

Page 25



16 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

10. External Partners 
 

The Council will seek support from Surrey Police and other agencies within the 

Spelthorne Borough Community Safety Partnership, Environment Agency, Keep 

Britain Tidy, DEFRA, Surrey County Council, A2 Dominium and other registered 

social landlords, Staines Business Improvement District (BID) and local 

businesses for support in the delivery of this policy. 

 
Where there is a need for the Council to share enforcement 

information/intelligence with other agencies, the Council will follow the provisions 

of the Data Protection Act 2018. 

 
 

11. Core Offences 
 
11.1. Pedestrian Litter 

 
There is no formal definition of litter, however Section 87 of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 (as amended by the Clean Neighborhoods and Environment 

Act (CNEA 2005) defines the offence of littering as the throwing down, dropping 

or depositing of litter on any land and would include litter deposited by people in 

vehicles, including land covered by water, and leaving it. The land must be within 

the area of a principal litter authority and 'open to the air' (if the land is covered, 

but open to the air on at least one side, the offence only applies if the public has 

access to that land). Littering is an offence in public places as well as on private 

land unless the owner of that land has given permission for the dropping of the 

litter, or a legal authorisation exists to do so. A litter offence can be prosecuted 

through a magistrates' court and carries with it a maximum fine of level four on 

the standard scale (currently £2,500). 

 

The CNEA 2005 also makes it clear that litter includes smoking-related litter 

and discarded chewing gum. 

 
In every case where the action of littering has been witnessed or there is other 

firm evidence, then in the first instance a written warning letter may be issued 

depending on the severity of the littering or by the issue of FPN in lieu of 

prosecution. This allows some discretion with the authorised officer as to their 

course of action. 

 
The policy applies to dropped/thrown litter in any open place in Spelthorne. 

 
Offences observed on overt CCTV or via Officers body worn cameras will be 

pursued where identity can be obtained. 

 
On a case-by-case basis, authorised officers may, choose to consider the 

placing of bags of rubbish (where evidence can be found) as littering. Public 

urination may also be regarded as a littering offence. 

Page 26



17 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a litter offence the alleged offender will be given the 

opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for the offence by the 

payment of a fixed penalty of £80. 

 
11.2. Abandoning a Vehicle 

 
Under S.3 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978, a person commits an offence if 

they, without lawful authority, abandon on any land in the open air, or on any 

land forming part of a highway, a motor vehicle or anything that has formed part 

of a motor vehicle. 

 
S.2a of the same act (as inserted by the Clean Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005) allows local authorities to issue Fixed Penalty Notices 

to persons alleged to have committed such an offence (if the offence is 

relatively minor) or prosecute them. 

 
There is no legal definition of an abandoned vehicle. Council authorised officers 

will check the following when forming decisions on abandonment using 

guidance issued by the Department of Environment, Farming and Rural Affairs 

(DEFRA) 

 
• road tax and MOT status 

• If there is a registered owner 

• The roadworthiness of the vehicle 

• Parked in a place likely to be a danger to other road users (Police 

have an immediate removal power) 

• Vehicle has been left at location for a period of currently 2 months 

and 1 day 

• Vehicle is burnt out, extensively damaged or in a dangerous 

condition 

• Other Environmental factors 

 
Notice of immediate, 7- or 15-day removal will be issued after consideration by 

authorised officers as to the location and state of a vehicle. 

 
Vehicles can be removed immediately, but some must be stored for a certain 

length of time and notice served before disposal. 

 
For vehicles that the local authority considers having some value, the written 

notice period to the last registered keeper before a vehicle must be disposed of 

is seven days. The local authority may dispose of the vehicle as they see fit. For 

example, they can sell it at an auction or have it destroyed at an authorised 

treatment facility. 

 
Vehicles that the Council considers having no value can be destroyed 

immediately if it is thought that they have been abandoned. The Council no longer 

must wait for the expiry of a valid licence and may destroy immediately any 

Page 27



18 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

vehicle that it regards as only fit for destruction. In cases where it is not evident 

that the vehicle has been abandoned, the vehicle can then be disposed of if the 

owner cannot be traced or fails to respond to a notice. 

 
Vehicles with some value that have been abandoned on the highway may be 

removed immediately by the Council who then send a 21-day notice to the 

address of the last registered keeper (a subsequent notice of 14 days may be 

issued to enable the local authority to make further enquiries). 

 
The Council reserves the right to recover costs of removal, storage, and disposal 

from the person responsible for abandoning the vehicle. 

 
The Council must also issue a 15-day notice to the owner or occupier of the 

intention to remove abandoned vehicles on private land. The landowner or the 

occupier must agree with this removal. The Council reserve the right to 

recharge the cost of doing so to the registered keeper (if one has been 

identified). 

The Government guidance outlining the Council responsibilities can be found 

on the below hyperlink. 

 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/abandoned-vehicles-council-responsibilities 

 
Penalty 

 
If found guilty of abandoning a vehicle on a highway or on land in the open air, 

a person can be fined up to £2,500. 

In lieu of prosecution for an abandoned vehicle offence, the Council will give an 

alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for the 

offence by the payment of a fixed penalty of £200. 

 

11.3. Nuisance Vehicles 

 
The CNEA 2005 make it an offence to leave two or more motor vehicles parked 

within 500 metres of each other on a road or roads where they are exposed or 

advertised for sale, or to cause two or more motor vehicles to be so left. This only 

applies to persons who are carrying out a business of selling motor vehicles. 

The CNEA 2005 also makes it an offence to carry out restricted works (repair, 

maintenance, servicing, improvement, or dismantling) on a motor vehicle on a 

road. This only applies to persons who are running a business of carrying out 

restricted works or for gain or reward. 
 

Authorised officers will only be able to take enforcement action, including the 

removal of a vehicle, for nuisance vehicles on a public road or highway. 

Page 28

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/abandoned-vehicles-council-responsibilities


19 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Penalty 
 

A person found guilty of a nuisance vehicle offence can be fined up to £2,500, or 

a term of not exceeding three months imprisonment, or both. 
 

There are few instances of this offence in Spelthorne, however, the right is 

reserved and where action is required then in lieu of prosecution for a nuisance 

vehicle offence, to give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any 

liability to conviction for the offence by the payment of a fixed penalty of £100. 

 
 
 
 
 

11.4. Dog Control - PSPO 

 
Regulation for offences relating to dog offences are dealt with under Part 4, 

Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

 
The Spelthorne Public Spaces Protection Order (Dog Control) order came into 

on 2 January 2021 and will remain in force for a period of 3 years unless 

extended by a further order under the Councils Statutory powers; A further period 

of consultation would be required to extend the order. The current order creates 

the following provisions: - 

 
i) Dogs' exclusion areas 

 

ii) Dog Fouling 

 
iii) Professional dog walkers limit to four dogs 

 
iv) Dogs on lead by direction 

 
v) Dogs on lead 

 

vi) Carrying suitable means for the proper disposal of dog faeces 

The full order and exemptions are shown on below link. 

Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a dog related offence under this PSPO, the Council 

will give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to 

conviction for the offence by payment of a Fixed Penalty Notice of £100 to be 

paid within 14 days. If prosecuted the maximum fine is currently set at £1000. 

 
The full Dog Control PSPO can be viewed via the below hyperlink. 

 

https://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/20314/Public-Space-Protection-Order­ 

dog-control 

Page 29

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/20314/Public-Space-Protection-Order


20 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

11.5. Graffiti 
 

The tackling of graffiti will continue to be monitored using ongoing processes in 

partnership with all Council services, Police, and other partners. Offensive or 

racial graffiti will be removed from Council assets within 24 hours where 

practicable. 

 
Section.43(1) Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 (ASSA 2003) allows the Council 

to issue Fixed Penalty Notices to persons who commit 'minor' graffiti offences 

as an alternative to prosecution (except where the offence is racially or 

religiously motivated). The offence(s) must be witnessed, or substantial proof 

obtained as to the identity of the offender. 

 
Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a graffiti offence, the Council reserve the right to give an 

alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for the 

offence by the payment of a fixed penalty of £80 within 14 days. 

 
A failure to discharge a fixed penalty notice could result in consideration being 

given to prosecute for offences of: 

 
I. Section 1 (1) Criminal Damage Act 1971 

A person who without lawful excuse destroys or damages any property 

belonging to another intending to destroy or damage any such property or 

being reckless as to whether any such property would be destroyed or 

damaged shall be guilty of an offence. 

II. Section 131 (2) Highways Act 1980 

If a person without lawful authority or excuse pulls down or obliterates a 

traffic sign placed on or over a highway or a milestone or direction post (not 

being a traffic sign) so placed is guilty of an offence 
 

Ill. Section 132 (1) Highways Act 1980 

A person who, without either the consent of the highway authority or an 

authorisation given by or under enactment or a reasonable excuse, paints 

or otherwise inscribes or affixes any picture, letter, sign, or other mark upon 

the surface of a highway or tree, structure or works on or near a highway is 

guilty of an offence. 

 
11.6. Flyposting 

 
There is no formal definition of fly posting, although it is taken to be the 

display of advertising material on buildings and street furniture without the 

consent of the owner and contrary to the provisions of the appropriate legislation. 

In simple terms they are illegal advertisements which can saturate an area within 

a matter of hours. 

It is appropriate for a distinction to be drawn between, for example, a poster 

Page 30



21 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

advertising a local community or charitable event and a poster advertising a 
commercial activity. 

 

Regulation 3(1-4) of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 

(England) Regulations 2007 allows the display of temporary notices or signs 

which are intended to advertise any local event being held for charitable 

purposes. 
 

Advertisements within this category must not exceed 0.6 square metres in area. 

(Roughly 3 feet by 2 feet). In addition, the advertisement must not be displayed 

more than 28 days before the event and must be removed within 14 days after it 

ends. 

 
1. The signs must be kept clean and tidy 

2. The signs must be kept in a safe condition 

3. The signs should have the permission of the asset owner 

4. The signs should not obscure road signs. 

 
Applications from charities or local organisations will be accepted on this basis, 

providing permission has been granted from the asset owner or landowner. 

 
There are various legislative powers available to the Council for tackling fly 

posting problems. The Council will take appropriate action against those 

responsible for fly posting. In the first instance we will endeavour to make 

informal contact with offenders and request removal of items within 24 hours. 

Offenders will also be given advice on processes for application of legal 

advertising and signage and be made aware of the enforcement actions which 

can be taken. Failure to respond advice will result in further appropriate action. 

 
Under Section 225, Town, and Country Planning Act 1990, it is possible to 

remove any placard or poster displayed in contravention of the Town and 

Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 1992. Notice is not 

required where the fly post does not identify the person who displayed it and 

where the person cannot be identified after enquiry. Where a person can be 

identified, two days' notice must be given for the removal of illegal posters and 

placards. Failure to comply with a notice will result in removal of the signage. 

 
Persistent offences and/or where an offender has had two notices of removal, 

the Council will seek to prosecute, with offenders upon conviction, subject to a 

fine of up to £2500. 

 
All Estate Agents in Spelthorne have been previously sent a letter warning them 

that for sale, for let, sold, let or any other estate agent sign will be removed if 

attached to Council land, the highway or roadside property. Persistent offenders 

will be dealt with as outlined below. 

 
S.43(1) Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (ASBA 2003) allows the Council to serve 

a £80 Fixed Penalty Notice on persons who commit fly posting offences as an 

alternative to prosecution (except where the offence is racially or religiously 

motivated). The offences must be witnessed, or substantial proof obtained as to 

Page 31



22 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

the identity of the offender. 

 
Failure to pay a FPN may result in prosecution, which can be considered using 

the following legislation: - 

 
Section 220-224, Town & Country Planning Act 1990 If any person displays any 

advertisement in contravention of the regulations, he shall be guilty of an offence. 

If prosecuted the maximum fine in the Magistrates Court is currently £2500. 

 
 
 

 
11.7. Fly Tipping 

 
There is no specific definition of fly-tipping other than that set out in section 33 

of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA), which says it is an offence in 

general terms, to treat, keep or dispose of controlled waste other than in 

accordance with an environmental permit or in a manner likely to cause 

pollution of the environment or harm to human health. 

 
It is generally recognised though that one black bin bag or above full of waste 

would constitute an offence of fly-tipping. 

 
The offence may only be committed in relation to controlled waste, although 

nearly all wastes now qualify as controlled waste (household, commercial, 

industrial, or clinical). 

 
Illegal dumps of waste can vary in scale and the type of waste involved. 

Tipping a mattress, electrical items, or a bin bag full of rubbish in the street 

causes a local nuisance, and tipping household items and small-scale building 

or garden waste in open spaces reduces their amenity value to the community. 

 
The powers to deal with fly tipping incidents are shared between local 

authorities and the Environment Agency. The National Fly Tipping Protocol 

(agreed between the Environment Agency and LGA) gives guidance on which 

authority should take the lead in dealing with fly tips dependent on their size, 

composition, and location. 

 
The national fly-tipping protocol can be found via the below hyperlink. 

 

Fly-tipping-responsibilities-Guide-for-local-authorities-and-land-manage....pdf  
(tacklingflytipping.com)  

 

All incidents of fly-tipping must be reported (requirement to send quarterly 

figures to DEFRA) and investigated, however the Council is only able to remove 

fly tipped material from "Relevant land" - land that is open to the air 

(notwithstanding that it is covered if it is open to the air on at least one side), 

which is under direct control of a principal litter authority (Spelthorne Borough 

Page 32

https://tacklingflytipping.com/Documents/NFTPG-CaseStudies/Fly-tipping-responsibilities-Guide-for-local-authorities-and-land-manage....pdf
https://tacklingflytipping.com/Documents/NFTPG-CaseStudies/Fly-tipping-responsibilities-Guide-for-local-authorities-and-land-manage....pdf


Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy  

 

 

Council) and to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access, with or 

without payment (EPA section 86(4)). 

 
The Council must also ensure that any "relevant highway" for which it is 

responsible, as far as is practicable, is kept clear of litter and refuse (EPA 

section 89(1) (a)). A "relevant highway" is one that is maintainable at public 

expense, but not a trunk road which is a special road. A local council is 

responsible for so much of the highway as falls within its area (section 86(9)). In 

Spelthorne, all fly-tipping on highways will be reported to the relevant authority 

for clearance. The responsible authorities are Surrey County Council or 

National Highways. The Council will investigate such matter and act upon any 

recovered evidence that identifies an offender. 

 
Land managers, occupiers or owners of private property are responsible for 

clearing and disposing of any fly-tipping found on private land. Further details 

can be found on the below hyperlink. 
 

https://www.tacklingflytipping.com/landowners/1500 

 
 

Vehicles concerned in fly-tipping. 

 
In all cases of fly-tipping where a vehicle has been used to transport the waste 

then the Council will consider seizing the vehicle pending the outcome of a fly­ 

tipping investigation and subsequent prosecution. 

 
If a person is convicted of a fly-tipping offence and the Council have previously 

seized a vehicle then in all cases the Council will ask the Court for a forfeiture 

Order and if granted the Council will dispose of the vehicle, full details can be 

found on the below hyperlink. 
 

Local authorities: seizing vehicles for suspected waste crime - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk) 

 
Criminal Behaviour Orders 

 
If a person is convicted of a fly-tipping offence, then the Council may also 

consider asking the Courts to impose a Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) in 

relation to the convicted person. 

 
To obtain a CBO, the Council must satisfy the Court to the criminal standard of 

proof - beyond all reasonable doubt that: - 

 
An offender has engaged in behaviour that caused or was likely to cause 

harassment, alarm, or distress and the making of such an order will help in 

preventing the offender from engaging in such behaviour. 

 
A CBO can prohibit a person from doing anything described in the order and/or 

require an offender to do anything described in the order. A CBO for a person 

under 18 can last between 1 and 3 years and in relation to a person over 18 
 

23 

Page 33

http://www.tacklingflytipping.com/landowners/1500
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-authorities-seizing-vehicles-for-suspected-waste-crime
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-authorities-seizing-vehicles-for-suspected-waste-crime


Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy  

between 2 years and an indefinite period, the maximum order is likely to be 1O 

years. 

 
Any breach of a CBO in a Magistrates' Court can carry a penalty of 

imprisonment not exceeding 6 months or a fine or both and in the Crown Court 

a period of imprisonment not exceeding 5 years a fine or both. See below link 

for the legislation in relation to CBOs 
 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/2/enacted 

 
 
 

Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a fly tipping offence the Council reserve the right to 

give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction 

for the offence by the payment of a fixed penalty to the maximum allowed by 

statute -The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 

introduced the fixed penalty, and the maximum fixed penalty currently stands at 

£400 and must be paid within 14 days. 

 
The maximum penalty if prosecuted is currently an unlimited fine and/or a term 

of imprisonment in a Magistrates Court with a maximum of 12 months and in a 

Crown Court a maximum of 5 years. 
 
 

11.8. Duty of Care Offences - Commercial 

 
Section 34(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 sets out the waste duty 

of care that applies to anyone who imports, produces, carries, keeps, treats, or 

disposes of controlled waste or, as a broker has control of such waste. 

 
Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a breach of duty of care (commercial) offence the 

Council reserve the right to give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge 

any liability to conviction for the offence by the payment of a fixed penalty to the 

maximum allowed by statute currently £300 if paid within 14 days. The maximum 

penalty if prosecuted is an unlimited fine. 

 
Section 53 of the CNEA 2005 extends the powers of section108 of the 

Environment Act 1995 (powers of enforcing authorities) to investigate illegal waste 

disposal or duty of care offences to authorised council officers. 

 

11.9. Industrial and Commercial Waste 

 
It is an offence to place trade (industrial) or commercial waste into street or 

domestic litter bins and all businesses must have a trade refuse collection 

agreement with a contractor authorised to carry waste or be the holder of an 

 
?4 

Page 34

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/2/enacted


25 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 

 

Environment Agency Lower Tier Waste Licence and dispose of the waste in 

the specially designated Local Authority Recycling Centre. 

Businesses will receive advisory visits on a planned basis or as reports are 

received of waste and associated litter issues. 

 
Businesses are legally obliged to keep any waste resulting from their activities 

safe whilst in their possession. The Council will seek to act on the following duty 

of care offences: - 

 
o 34 (1} (b} Failing to take reasonable steps to prevent escape of 

controlled waste 

 
All businesses must ensure their waste is stored in appropriate containers so 

that it cannot fall out, blow away or escape. The waste should also be secured 

against unauthorised removal and secure from animals, vandals, thieves, 

accident, or weather. 

 
 

o 34 (1} (c} Failing to take reasonable steps to ensure that a transfer of 
the waste is to an authorised person or to a person for authorised 
transport purposes; and accompanied by a waste transfer note 

 
Waste can only be passed on to an authorised person and the producer must 

retain a waste transfer note that sets out certain details of the waste. 

 
Where offenders are identified, amendments to section 34, by the CNEA 2005, 

make it an offence when a person has failed to perform their duty to provide the 

necessary authority for transporting waste. 

 
As part of the education process, businesses will be asked to provide the 

relevant waste transportation documents at the time of visit and the Council will 

allow that person 14 days within which to produce the documentation or provide 

proof that the waste contract has been signed. 

 
If the documentation is not produced within 14 days and in lieu of prosecution 

for failing to produce the necessary authorisation for transporting waste, the 

Council will give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to 

conviction for the offence by the payment of a fixed penalty of £300. 

 
A business or waste carrier found guilty of failing to provide the necessary 

authority for transporting waste can be liable to an unlimited fine. 

 
11.10. Breach of Duty of Care - Householder 

 
It is an offence contrary to s.34 (2A) Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as 

inserted by The Waste (Household Waste Duty of Care) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2005 if a householder does not take all available measures available 

to ensure that all domestic waste is transferred to an authorised person for 

Page 35



26 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

disposal. The authorised persons are: - 

 
i) Any authority which is a waste collection authority 

ii) Any person who is the holder of a waste management licence or of a 

disposal licence under section 5 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 

iii) Any person to whom section 33(1) above does not apply by virtue of 

regulations under subsection (3) of that section or by virtue of S.2 of the 

Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 

iv) Any person registered as a carrier of controlled waste under section 2 of 

the Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989 

v) Any person who is not required to be so registered by virtue of regulations 

under section 1(3) of that Act. 

 
Householders employing a contractor to remove waste from their property (such 

as garden or building waste) have a duty to take reasonable measures to ensure 

that their waste is passed on to an authorised person as outlined above. The 

duty emphasises the responsibility that residents must not support illegal waste 

transfer and fly tipping, whether knowingly or unknowingly. 

 
Evidence found in fly tipped rubbish will be used to identify the owner. In the 

first instance, where practicable. A process of education and awareness will be 

implemented as a preferred course of action along with a warning letter. 

However, in more serious cases an FPN as outlined above or even prosecution 

may be considered. 

 
Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a Household Breach of Duty of Care offence the Council 

reserve the right to give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any 

liability to conviction for the offence by the payment of a fixed penalty of £200, 

which must be paid within 14 days. The maximum penalty if prosecuted is an 

unlimited fine. 

Section 53 of the CNEA 2005 extends the powers of section108 of the 

Environment Act 1995 (powers of enforcing authorities) to investigate illegal 

waste disposal or duty of care offences to authorised council officers. 

 
 
 

12. Control of Litter and Refuse 

 
Authorised officers will ensure that businesses are made aware of any litter or 

refuse concerns that are or become apparent because of their business activities 

such as those shown below 

 
• Street litter outside premises including food and drink packaging and other 

litter from 'fast food' outlets and mobile operations or litter from cash 

machines. 

Page 36



27 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 replaced councils' 

powers to issue Litter Clearing Notices, Street Litter Control Notices and 

Graffiti/Defacement removal notices with new, more flexible powers to issue 

Community Protection Notices or Public Space Protection Orders, to tackle any 

type of anti-social behaviour which is having a detrimental impact on the quality 

of life in the local community. Currently Spelthorne Borough Council has two 

PSPO's - Dog Control as outlined above at 11.4 above and the Possession of 

Psychoactive Substances is dealt with below. 

 
 
 
 

 
12.1. Community Protection Notices 

 
Section 43(1) of the 2014 Act gives the Council the power to issue a community 

protection notice (CPN) to an individual aged 16 year or over or body if they are 

satisfied on reasonable grounds that: - 

a. the conduct of the individual or body is having a detrimental effect of a 

persistent or continuing nature on the quality of life of those in the locality 

and 

b. the conduct is unreasonable. 

A community protection notice is a notice that imposes any of the following 

requirements on the individual or body issued with it: - 

a. a requirement to stop doing specified things. 

b. a requirement to do specified things. 

c. a requirement to take reasonable steps to achieve specified results. 

 
So as can be seen from the legislation the conduct has to have a detrimental 

effect which is persistent and unreasonable. The Council must in the first 

instance issue a written warning, this is a requirement of the Act. The written 

warning can specify whatever conditions appear reasonable to the Council to 

put a stop to the unreasonable behaviour and specify a timescale with which to 

comply with the warning. 

If the warning notice is not complied with, then a Community Protection Notice 

can be issued with the same or varied conditions upon which the individual or 

company must comply with. 

 
S.47 of the 2014 Act also gives the Council the power to carry out remedial 

work if an individual or company has failed to comply with any required work 

listed within the CPN. The Council can then invoice the person/company for the 

works carried out. 

 
Unlike the warning a CPN can be appealed to the Magistrates Court within 21 

days of issue if the individual believes that any of the following apply: 

Page 37



28 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

(a) the behaviour did not take place 

(b) has not had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality 

(c) has not been of a persistent or continuing nature, 

(d) is not unreasonable, or 

(e) is conduct that the person cannot reasonably be expected to control or 

affect. 

 
• That any of the requirements in the notice, or any of the periods within 

which or times by which they are to be complied with, are unreasonable. 

• That there is a material defect or error in, or in connection with, the 

notice. 

• Or that the notice was issued to the wrong person. 

 

The Magistrates on hearing an appeal can: - 

(a) quash the notice, 

(b) modify the notice (for example by extending a period specified in it), or 

(c) dismiss the appeal. 

 
An appeal within 21 days can also be made in relation to any remedial work 

Completed by the Council and invoiced to an individual or company if it is 

considered to be excessive. The Magistrates on hearing an appeal can: - 

(a) Confirm the amount, 

(b) Substitute a lower amount 

 
To issue a CPN the behaviour must be as outlined above but the evidential 

standard is that of the Civil Standard of Proof which is on the balance of 

probabilities. 

 
Any breach of the CPN requires the Criminal Standard of proof, which is beyond 

all reasonable doubts, the penalty for breaches is shown below. 

 
Penalty 

 

Cases will be considered on their own individual basis and in lieu of prosecution 

for failing to comply with a Community Protection Notice, the Council can give 

an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for the 

offence by the payment of a fixed penalty of £100. The maximum fine if 

prosecuted not exceeding £2,500 (in case of an individual) and £20,000 (in the 

case of a body/business). 

 
See below link for the legislation on relation to Community Protection Notices. 

 

                     Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 38

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/1


29 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

12.2. Controlling the Distribution of Free Literature 
 

The CNEA 2005 gives local authorities the power to control the distribution of 

free literature by designating areas of their own land or highways where free 

literature is only permitted with their consent. 

 
At this time anyone distributing free material in a designated area without 

consent (except charities or for political purposes) is committing an offence and, 

if found guilty, could be fined up to £2,500. 

 
The Council will consider complaints received about the distribution of free 

literature and assess whether it is appropriate to make an order to restrict the 

distribution of free literature. If such an order were to be made, in lieu of 

prosecution for a distribution of free literature offence, the Council will give an 

alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for the 

offence by the payment of a £80 Fixed Penalty Notice. 

 
The Council will continue to advise any persons/businesses who distribute free 

literature in the borough that excess litter caused as a result may result in the 

issue of a Fixed Penalty Notice (Section 11.1 Pedestrian Litter above refers) 

 
12.3. Abandoned Shopping Trolleys 

 
Abandonment of shopping trolleys has become more of an issue in Spelthome 

and informal arrangements with retailers exist for their recovery. In other 

instances, authorised officers report the abandoned trolley to Trolley Wise via 

their website and they will attend, remove the trolley and repatriate to the store 

on payment of a fee. 
 

There are no current provisions for issuing FPNs for abandoned trolleys. 

 
12.4. Psychoactive Substances - NOS Cannisters - Public Space 

Protection Order 
 

Regulation for offences relating to psychoactive substances- NOS cannisters are 

dealt with under Part 4, Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 

Policing Act 2014. This section provides that a local authority may make a public 

spaces protection order, 

 
The Council has made such an Order which came into force on 28 May 2021 

and will remain in force for a period of 3 years unless extended by a further order 

under the Councils Statutory powers; A further period of consultation would be 

required to extend the order. 

 
The Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) makes it an offence if a person fails 

without reasonable excuse to comply with any requirement of a constable or an 

authorised officer: - 

 
a) To cease consumption of a psychoactive substance or anything which the 

Page 39



30 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

constable or authorised officer reasonably believes to be a psychoactive 

substance or 

b) To surrender anything in their possession which is, or which the constable or 

authorised officer reasonably believes to be a psychoactive substance or a 

container for a psychoactive substance 

see below hyperlink which details the full PSPO order.  

 

Public Space Protection Order Consultation - legal highs - Spelthorne Borough Council 

 
Penalty 

 
In lieu of prosecution for a psychoactive substance related offence under this 

PSPO, the Council will give an alleged offender the opportunity to discharge any 

liability to conviction for the offence by payment of a Fixed Penalty Notice of 

£100 to be paid within 14 days which would discharge any liability to conviction 

for an offence under Section 67(1) of the Act. If prosecuted the maximum fine is 

currently set at £1000. 

 
See below link for full details of the legislation relating to Public Space Protection 

Orders: - 
 

                       Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (legislation.gov.uk) 

                 

13. Spelthorne Borough Council - Byelaws for Pleasure 

Grounds, Public and Open Spaces 

 
Spelthorne Borough Council has a set of local Byelaws which restrict certain 

activities within the Council's Pleasure Grounds, Public Walks and Open Spaces. 

Any breach of these byelaws can result in prosecution and a maximum £500 fine 

(a full list of the byelaws can be found at appendix 1). 

 
Authorised Officers patrol the areas to which the byelaws apply, and any 

detected breaches can result in prosecution but for minor breaches words of 

advice or a verbal warning would normally suffice. Repeat offenders are likely in 

the first instance to receive a written warning and thereafter probably considered 

for prosecution., 

 

13.1. River Thames Moorings 
 

Spelthorne Borough Council provides several public mooring sites which are all 

clearly signposted and are currently located at: - 

 
Lammas Park, Staines (part of bank only, see signs at location) 

Staines Bridge, Staines 

Memorial Gardens, Staines (Old Town Hall and beside hotel sites only) 

Dockett Eddy Lane, Shepperton 

Page 40

https://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/20226/Public-Space-Protection-Order-Consultation-legal-highs
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/enacted


31 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Shepperton Lock, Shepperton 

Lady Lyndsay's Lawn, Shepperton 

Walton Lane, Shepperton 

Kings Lawn, Sunbury 

 
Owners and Master of Boats and vessels may moor at these sites for a 

maximum of 24-hours in any 48-hour period. Authorised officers will affix a 

warning notice to a boat or vessel that overstays or returns during the relevant 

period. Thereafter if the notice is ignored then the master or owner will likely be 

prosecuted. 

 
Further action will not however be taken if any of the following circumstances 

apply: 

 
i. The vessel has broken down and the master/owner has or is in the process 

of arranging repairs. The fact that the vessel has broken down must be 

reported to Spelthorne Council by email - 

neighbourhoodservices@spelthorne.gov.uk or by telephone 01784 446411. 

The master/owner must provide details of the boat, mooring location, 

perceived problem, date, time and who has been contacted to repair the 

vessel and proposed timescale, maximum time allowed is 7 days. 

 
ii. Sudden unforeseen illness or injury resulting in receiving treatment at a 

hospital or incapacitation due to an injury or illness. Death of owner/master 

or other person in charge of the vessel again in these circumstances the 

owner or master or other responsible person must inform the Council as 

above. 

 
 

iii. The River Thames Conditions are such that a vessel is unable to leave the 

mooring (see attached link for the Environment Agency River Thames 

Conditions site). Authorised officers will continue to monitor boats/vessels 

during periods where the river conditions prevent movement and 

master/owners will be expected to check the river conditions daily and 

move off when safe to do so. 

 
iv. Spelthorne Borough Council has several sites which clearly state no 

mooring permitted. Any vessel moored on such a site will in the first 

instance receive a warning notice. If the boat remains after the notice has 

been issued, then a prosecution for a breach of the byelaws would be the 

outcome. The exemptions as listed at i-iii above may also be applicable but 

on a case-by-case basis. 
 

v. If a boat or vessel moors on any other area of the river Thames which is 

owned or managed by Spelthorne Borough Council, then under current 

Navigation rules a maximum period of 24 hours will be allowed and once 

again the exemptions as laid out above would apply. 

For the latest information on the current river Thames conditions please use 

below hyperlink. 

Page 41

mailto:neighbourhoodservices@spelthorne.gov.uk


32 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/river-thames-current-river-conditions 

 
 
 

 
13.2. Abandoned Boats or Vessels 

 
Any boats or vessels moored to Council Land that reasonably appear to an 

authorised officer to be abandoned will be investigated and details of the 

owner/master sought from partner agencies. In any event a preliminary notice 

will be issued under section.6 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978- Removal and 

disposal of other refuse. This notice will give the owner/master a maximum of 7 

days to remove the boat or vessel. 

 
If the boat remains in situ after the 7-day notice has elapsed, then a final notice 

under the same legislation giving the owner/master a maximum final 7 days to 

remove the boat or vessel will be issued. 

 
The prescribed notice will be attached to the vessel in a prominent position. 

 
Any boat or vessel that remains in situ after the final 7-day notice has expired will 

be subject to removal and disposal by the Council. The Council will then seek to 

recover its costs from the identified master or owner of the boat or vessel. 

 

 

14. Current and Future Legislation 
 

The Council may also seek to take action to tackle all environmental crime using 

other existing statutes on a case-by-case basis for which action will be in 

accordance with this enforcement policy. 

 
Together with our partners, we will make full use of relevant legislation 

including but not limited to: 

 
• Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 

• Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

• Section 59 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

• Section 215 Town and Country Planning Act Section 22 (3) 

• Control of Pollution Act 1974 

• Section 6 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 

• Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

• The Data Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection 

Regulations 2018 

• Equalities Act 2010 

• Housing Acts 1985, 1996 and 2004 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 

• Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 

Page 42

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/river-thames-current-river-conditions


33 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

 
 

 

• Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 

• Mental Health Act 1983 (amended 2007) 

• Human Rights Act 1998 

• Freedom of Information Act 2000 

• Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

• Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 

 
The council will use all reasonable endeavours to develop and publish revised 

procedures necessary to implement any future Environmental Legislation 

and/or additional legal powers. 

 

15. Protecting Our Staff 
 

Spelthorne Borough Council will not tolerate, under any circumstance, any 

threats, violence or abusive behaviour towards our staff or contractors. We will 

take firm action against any person who shows acts of aggression towards any 
person carrying out their work in respect of this Policy or any other service. We 
will involve the police if it is decided that this action is appropriate. 

 

16. Media Arrangements 
 

Where possible and if it is deemed to be in the wider community interest, we 

will publish the outcomes of court results where the Council has undertaken 

prosecutions. 

 
17. Recovery of Costs 

 
The Council will seek to recover the costs of any environmental crime 

investigation undertaken by the Council. Any monies recovered will be reused 

in-line with the current Government guidance. 

 
18. Equality and Diversity 

 
We are committed to promoting equality and diversity and ensuring that all our 

customers are treated fairly considering their individual needs. We will take all 

reasonable steps to ensure we do not unlawfully discriminate and will treat 

everyone with the same level of courtesy, dignity, and respect regardless of: 

 
• Disability. 

• Age. 

• Gender reassignment 

• Pregnancy, maternity, breastfeeding. 

• Marriage and civil partnership. 

• Race 

• Religion and belief 

• Sex 

Page 43



34 

Joint Enforcement Team - Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

 

• Sexual orientation. 

 
19. Customer Feedback and Complaints 

 
We are committed to providing a high-quality customer-focused service and 

welcome feedback about what we are doing well and where we can make 

improvements. You can contact the Council by 

 
• Visiting our website at https://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/contact 

• Telephone us on 01784 451499 

• To make a complaint 

https://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16560/Comments-compliments-and­ 

complaints 

 
20. Monitoring and Policy Review 

 
The effectiveness of this policy will be constantly monitored and subject to a 

yearly review to ensure that any changes in legislation or best practice are 

included and updated. 

 
We will consult with service users, staff, internal and external partners in the 

review. 

 
Any changes to policy will be subject to Committee approval. 

Page 44

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/contact
http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16560/Comments-compliments-and
http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/article/16560/Comments-compliments-and


35  

 

 

APPENDIX 

SPELTHORNE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

BYELAWS FOR PLEASURE GROUNDS, PUBLIC 

WALKS AND OPEN SPACES 
 

ARRANGEMENT OF BYELAWS 
 
 

PART 1 

GENERAL 

1. General interpretation 

2. Application 

3. Opening times 
 
 

PART2 

PROTECTION OF THE GROUND, ITS WILDLIFE AND THE PUBLIC 

 
4. Protection of structures and plants 

5. Unauthorised erection of structures 

6. Climbing 

7. Grazing 

8. Protection of wildlife 

9. Gates 

10. Camping 

11. Fires 

12. Interference with life-saving equipment 

 
 

PART3 

HORSES, CYCLES AND VEHICLES 

 

13. Interpretation of Part 3 

14. Horses 

15. Cycling 

16. Motor vehicles 

Page 45



36  

PART4 

PLAY AREAS, GAMES AND SPORTS 

 

17. Interpretation of Part 4 

18. Skateboarding, etc. 

19. Ball games 

20. Ball games - Rules 

21. Cricket 

22. Golf 

23. Golf - Rules 
 
 

PART5 

WATERWAYS 

24. Interpretation of Part 

25. Mooring 

26. Pollution 

Page 46



37  

 
 
 
 
 

 

PART6 MODEL 

AIRCRAFT 

 

27. Interpretation of Part 

28. General prohibition 

 

 
PART7 

OTHER REGULATED ACTIVITIES 

 
29. Provision of services 

30. Excessive noise 

31. Public shows and performances 

 

 
PARTS 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 
32. Obstruction 

33. Savings 

34. Removal of offenders 

35. Penalty 

36. Revocation 

 
 
 

SCHEDULE 1 - Grounds to which byelaws apply generally 

SCHEDULE 2 - Rules for playing ball games in designated 

areas 

 
 

Byelaws made under section 164 of the Public Health Act 1875, section 15 of 

the Open Spaces Act 1906 and sections 12 and 15 of the Open Spaces Act 

1906 by Spelthorne Borough Council with respect to pleasure grounds, public 

walks, and open spaces. 

Page 47



38  

PART 1 

GENERAL 

General Interpretation 

1. In these byelaws: 

 

"The Council" means Spelthorne Borough Council. 

"The ground" means any of the grounds listed in Schedule 1; 

"designated area" means an area in the ground which is set aside 

for a 

specified purpose, that area and its purpose to be indicated by notices 
placed in a conspicuous position. 

 
"Invalid carriage" means a vehicle, whether mechanically propelled or not, 

 
(a) the unladen weight of which does not exceed 150 kilograms, 

 
(b) the width of which does not exceed 0.85 metres, and 

 
(c) which has been constructed or adapted for use for the 

carriage of a person suffering from a disability and used 

solely by such a person. 

 
Application 

 
2. These byelaws apply to all the grounds listed in Schedule 1 

unless otherwise stated. 

 
Opening times 

 
3. (1) No person shall enter or remain in the ground except during 

opening hours. 

 
(2) "Opening hours" means the days and times during which the 

ground is open to the public and which are indicated by a notice 

placed in a conspicuous position at the entrance to the ground. 

Page 48



39  

 

 
PART2 

 
PROTECTION OF THE GROUND, ITS WILDLIFE AND THE PUBLIC 

 
Protection of structures and plants 

 
4. (1)  No person shall without reasonable excuse remove from or 

displace within the ground: 

 
(a) any barrier, post, seat or implement, or any part of a 

structure or ornament provided for use in the laying out or 

maintenance of the ground; or 

 
(b) any stone, soil, or turf or the whole or any part of any 

plant, shrub, or tree. 

 
(2) No person shall walk on or ride, drive, or station a horse or 

any vehicle over: 

 
(a) any flower bed, shrub, or plant. 

 
(b) any ground in the course of preparation as a flower bed 

or for the growth of any tree, shrub, or plant; or 

 
(c) any part of the ground set aside by the Council for the 

renovation of turf or for other landscaping purposes and 

indicated by a notice conspicuously displayed. 

 
Unauthorised erection of structures 

 
5. No person shall without the consent of the Council erect any barrier, 

post, ride, or swing, building or any other structure. 

 
Climbing 

 
6. No person shall without reasonable excuse climb any wall or fence in 

or enclosing the ground, or any tree, or any barrier, railing, post, or other 

structure. 

 
Grazing 

 
7. No person shall without the consent of the Council turn out or permit 

any animal for which he is responsible to graze in the ground. 

 
Protection of wildlife 

 
8. No person shall kill, injure, take, or disturb any animal, or engage in 

hunting or shooting or the setting of traps or the laying of snares. 

 
Gates 

 

9. (1) No person shall leave open any gate to which this byelaw 

applies and which he has opened or caused to be opened. 

 
(2) Byelaw 9 (1) applies to any gate to which is attached, or near to 

Page 49



40  

which is displayed, a conspicuous notice stating that leaving the 

gate open is prohibited. 
 

Camping 

 
10. No person shall without the consent of the Council erect a tent or use a 

vehicle, caravan, or any other structure for the purpose of camping 

except in a designated area for camping. 

 
Fires 

 
11. (1)  No person shall light a fire or place, throw, or drop a lighted 

match or any other thing likely to cause a fire. 

 
(2) Byelaw 11(1) shall not apply to: 

 
(a) the lighting of a fire or barbecue at any event for which 

the Council has given permission that fires or 

barbecues may be lit; or 

 
(b) the lighting or use, in such a manner as to safeguard 

against damage or danger to any person, of 

(i) a properly constructed camping stove or of a 

properly constructed barbecue, in a designated 

area for camping within that ground known as 

Laleham Park, or 

(ii) of a properly constructed barbecue, in a 

designated area for barbecues. 

 
Interference with life-saving equipment 

 
12. No person shall except in case of emergency remove from or displace 

within the ground or otherwise tamper with any life-saving appliance 

provided by the Council. 

Page 50



41  

PART3 

 
HORSES, CYCLES AND VEHICLES 

 
Interpretation of Part 3 

 
13. In this Part: 

 
"Designated route" means a route in or through the ground which is set 

aside for a specified purpose, its route, and that purpose to be indicated 

by notices placed in a conspicuous position; 

 
"motorcycle" means a mechanically propelled vehicle, not being an 

invalid carriage, with less than four wheels and the weight of which does 

not exceed 410 kilograms. 

 
"Motor vehicle" means any mechanically propelled vehicle other than a 

motorcycle or an invalid carriage; 

 
"trailer" means a vehicle drawn by a motor vehicle and includes a caravan. 

 
Horses 

 
14. (1) No person shall ride a horse except: 

 
(a) on a designated route for riding; or 

 
(b) in the exercise of a lawful right or privilege. 

(2)  Where horse-riding is permitted by virtue of byelaw 14(1)(a) or 

a lawful right or privilege, no person shall ride a horse in such a 

manner as to cause danger to any other person. 

 
Cycling 

 
15. No person shall without reasonable excuse ride a cycle in the ground 

except in any part of the ground where there is a right of way for cycles or 

on a designated route for cycling. 

 
Motor vehicles 

 
16. (1)  No person shall without reasonable excuse bring into or 

drive in the ground a motorcycle, motor vehicle or 
trailer except in 

any part of the ground where there is a right of way or a 

designated route for that class of vehicle. 

 
(2)  Where there is a designated route for motorcycles, motor 

vehicles or trailers, it shall not be an offence under this byelaw 

to bring into or drive in the ground a vehicle of that class for the 

sole purpose of transporting it to the route. 

Page 51



42  

PART4 

 
PLAY AREAS, GAMES AND SPORTS 

 
Interpretation of Part 4 

 
17. In this Part: 

 
"Ball games" means any game involving throwing, catching, kicking, 
batting, or running with any ball or other object designed for throwing 
and catching. 

 
"Golf course" means any area within the ground set aside for the 

purposes of playing golf and includes any golf driving range, golf 

practice area, putting course or crazy golf area. 

 
"self-propelled vehicle" means a vehicle other than a cycle, invalid 

carriage or pram which is propelled by the weight or force of one or 

more persons skating, sliding, or riding on the vehicle or by one or more 

persons pulling or pushing the vehicle. 

 
Skateboarding, etc. 

 
18. No person shall skate, slide, or ride on rollers, skateboards, or other 

self- propelled vehicles in such a manner as to cause danger or give 

reasonable grounds for annoyance to other persons. 

 
Ball games 

 
19. No person shall play ball games outside a designated area for playing 

ball games in such a manner: 

 
(a) as to exclude persons not playing ball games from use of that part. 

 
(b) as to cause danger or give reasonable grounds for annoyance 

to any other person in the ground; or 

 
(c) which is likely to cause damage to any tree, shrub, or plant 

in the ground. 

 
Ball games - Rules 

 
20. It is an offence for any person using a designated area for playing ball 

games to break any of the rules set out in Schedule 2 and 

conspicuously displayed on a sign in the designated area when asked 

by any person to desist from breaking those rules. 

 
Cricket 

 
21. No person shall throw or strike a cricket ball with a bat except in a 

designated area for playing cricket. 

 
Golf 

 
22. No person shall drive, chip, or pitch a hard golf ball except on the golf 

course. 

Page 52



43  

Golf- Rules 

 
23. (1)  No person shall play golf on the golf course unless he 

holds a valid ticket issued by or on behalf of the Council 

entitling him to do so, which ticket shall be retained and 

shown on demand to any authorised officer or agent of 

the Council. 

 
(2) No person shall enter on to or remain on the golf course unless: 

 
(a) taking part in the game of golf or accompanying a 

person so engaged; or 

 
(b) doing so in the exercise of a lawful right or privilege. 

 
(3) No person shall offer his service for hire as an instructor on the 

golf course without the consent of the Council. 

Page 53



44  

PARTS 

WATERWAYS 

Interpretation of Part 5 
 

24. In this Part: 

 
"boat" means any yacht, motorboat, or similar craft but not a model 

or toy boat. 

 
"waterway" means any river, lake, pool, or other body of water and 
includes any fountain. 

 
Mooring 

25. No person shall in any ground having a frontage to the River Thames 

moor any boat except where any part of the ground has by notice 

affixed in a conspicuous position been set aside by the Council as a 

place where mooring is permitted provided always that no boat moored 

pursuant to this byelaw shall remain moored in the ground for more 

than 24 hours in any period of 48 hours. 

 

Pollution 

 
26. No person shall foul or pollute any waterway. 

Page 54



45  

 

 

PART6 

MODEL AIRCRAFT 

Interpretation of Part 6 
 

27. In this Part: 

 
"Model aircraft" means an aircraft which weighs not more than 7 

kilograms without its fuel. 

 
"power-driven" means driven by: 

 
(a) the combustion of petrol vapour or other 

combustible substances. 

 
(b) jet propulsion or by means of a rocket, other than by 

means of a small reaction motor powered by a solid fuel 

pellet not exceeding 2.54 centimetres in length; or 

 
(c) one or more electric motors or by compressed gas. 

 
 
 

General prohibition 

 
28. No person shall cause any power-driven model aircraft to: 

 
(a) takeoff or otherwise be released for flight or control the flight of 

such an aircraft in the ground; or 

 
(b) land in the ground without reasonable excuse. 

Page 55



46  

PART7 

 
OTHER REGULATED ACTIVITIES 

 
Provision of services 

 
29. No person shall without the consent of the Council provide or offer to 

provide any service for which a charge is made. 

 
Excessive noise 

 
30. (1)  No person shall, after being requested to desist by any 

other person in the ground, make or permit to be 

made any noise 

which is so loud or so continuous or repeated as to give 

reasonable cause for annoyance to other persons in the ground 

by: 

 
(a) shouting or singing. 

 
(b) playing on a musical instrument; or 

 
(c) by operating or permitting to be operated any radio, 

amplifier, tape recorder or similar device. 

 
(2)  Byelaw 30(1) does not apply to any person holding or taking 

part in any entertainment held with the consent of the Council. 

 
 

Public shows and performances 

 
31. No person shall without the consent of the Council hold or take part 

in any public show or performance. 

Page 56



47  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PARTS 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Obstruction 
 

32. No person shall obstruct: 

 
(a) any officer of the Council in the proper execution of his duties. 

 
(b) any person carrying out an act which is necessary 

to the proper execution of any contract with the 

Council; or 

 
(c) any other person in the proper use of the ground. 

 
Savings 

 
33. (1) It shall not be an offence under these byelaws for an officer of the 

Council or any person acting in accordance with a contract with 

the Council to do anything necessary to the proper execution of 

his duty. 

 
(2)  Nothing in or done under these byelaws shall in any respect 

prejudice or injuriously affect any public right of way through the 

ground, or the rights of any person acting lawfully by virtue of 

some estate, right or interest in, over or affecting the ground or 

any part of the ground. 

 
Removal of offenders 

 
34. Any person offending against any of these byelaws may be removed 

from the ground by an officer of the Council or a constable. 

 
Penalty 

 
35. Any person offending against any of these byelaws shall be 

liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the 

standard scale. 

 
Revocation 

 
36. Byelaws 1-8 and 10 - 18, the first schedule and references in the second 

schedule to Echelford Recreation Ground made by Spelthorne Borough 
Council on 28 February 1992 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for 
the Home Office on 26 May 1992 relating to the ground are hereby revoked. 

Page 57



48  

SCHEDULES 

SCHEDULE 1 

GROUNDS TO WHICH BYELAWS APPLY GENERALLY 

PARTI 

RECREATION GROUNDS GOVERNED BY 

SECTION 164 OF THE PUBLIC HEALTH ACT, 1875 

 

Alexandra Road Recreation Ground - Sunbury 

Ashby Recreation Ground - Staines 

Ashford Recreation Ground 

Bishop Duppas Park - Shepperton 

Cedars Recreation Ground - Sunbury 

Echelford Recreation Ground - Ashford 

Feltham Hill Road Recreation Ground - Sunbury 

Fordbridge Park - Ashford 

Greenfield Recreation Ground - Laleham 

Groveley Recreation Ground - Sunbury 

Halliford Park - Shepperton 

Kenyngton Manor - Sunbury 

Laleham Park and Riverside Lands 

Littleton Recreation Ground 

Long Lane Recreation Ground - Stanwell 

Manor Park - Shepperton 

Memorial Gardens - Staines 

Old Bathing Field - Sunbury 

Poyle Children's Recreation Ground 

River Ash Walk - Shepperton 

Rivermead Island 

Scott Freeman Gardens - Ashford 

Shepperton Recreation Ground 

Shrublands Recreation Ground - Ashford 

Splash Meadow - Shepperton 

Stanwell Moor Recreation Ground 

Stanwell Recreation Ground 

Page 58



49  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staines Park 

Staines Riverside Walk 

Sunbury Park 

Swans Rest and Foreshore 

Town Lane Recreation Ground- Stanwell 

Victoria Jubilee Gardens - Staines 

Village Park - Stanwell 

Woodthorpe Recreation Ground- Ashford 

Page 59



50  

PART II 

RECREATION GROUNDS GOVERNED BY 

SECTION 15 OF THE OPEN SPACES ACT, 1906 

 

Brickle Green - Sunbury 

Flower Pot Green - Sunbury 

Kenyngton Manor Recreation Ground - Sunbury 

Littleton Green - Shepperton 

Lower Halliford Green - Shepperton 

Moormede Park - Staines 

Russell Road Greens - Shepperton 

Stanwell Village Green 

Towing Path Greens - Shepperton 

Upper Halliford Green - Shepperton 

Windmill Green - Shepperton 

 
 
 

PART Ill 

RECREATION GROUNDS GOVERNED BY 

SECTIONS 12 AND 15 OF THE OPEN SPACES ACT, 1906 

 

Bishop Duppas Park - Shepperton 

Echelford Recreation Ground - Ashford 

Fordbridge Park - Ashford 

Hengrove Park - Ashford 

Kingslawn and Church Wharf - Sunbury 

Littleton Recreation Ground - Sunbury 

Rivermead Island - Sunbury 

Riverside Land - Ashford 

Stanwell Churchyard 

Studios Walk - Shepperton 

Page 60



51  

 
 
 
 
 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

RULES FOR PLAYING BALL GAMES IN DESIGNATED AREAS 
(BYELAW 20) 

 
 

Any person using a designated area for playing ball games is required by 

byelaw 20 to comply with the following rules: 

(1) No person shall play any game other than those ball games for 

which the designated area has been set aside. 

(2) No person shall obstruct any other person who is playing in 

accordance with these rules. 

(3) Where exclusive use of the designated area has been granted to a 

person or group of persons by the Council for a specified period, no 

other person shall play in that area during that period. 

(4) Subject to paragraph (5), where the designated area is already in use 

by any person, any other person wishing to play in that area must 

seek their permission to do so. 

(5) Except where they have been granted exclusive use of the 

designated area for more than two hours by the Council, any person 

using that area shall vacate it if they have played continuously for two 

hours or more and any other person wishes to use that area. 

(6) No person shall play in the designated area when a notice has been 

placed in a conspicuous position by the Council prohibiting play in 

that area. 

Page 61



52  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE COMMON SEAL OF 

SPELTHORNE BOROUGH 

COUNCIL WAS HEREUNTO 

AFFIXED ON 

9th MARCH, 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MICHAEL GRAHAM 

Head of Corporate Governance 

 
 
 

 
The foregoing byelaws are confirmed by the Secretary of State and shall come 

into operation one calendar month after the date of confirmation 

 
Signed by the authority of the Secretary of State 

 
 

P Rowsell 

Senior Civil Servant 

in the Department for Communities and Local Government 

 
 

28 May 2009 

Page 62



 

  

Appendix 2 

            
 
 
 

Recording Equality Impact Assessment of Policies, Services and Functions 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment is an improvement tool.  It will assist you in ensuring that you have thought about the needs and impacts of your 
service/policy/function in relation to the protected characteristics.  It enables a systematic approach to identifying and recording actions and any 
gaps.  It also ensures that you have documented evidence that you have paid due regard to the protected characteristics in relation to the 
decisions made. 
 
Please note that the word “policy” is used to cover the wide range of strategies, contracts and other areas that are covered by the Act. 
 
It is also important to note that an equality assessment is an ongoing responsibility – not something that can be done once and then put aside.  
 

1. Department and/or Team 
 

Joint Enforcement Team 

2. Incident/event JET Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy 

3. Name and  of staff completing the assessment Martin Cole -JET and Community Safety Team Leader 

4. Date 
 

17 February 2023 

5. People involved in the analysis 
 

Martin Cole 

6. Brief Description of policy being analysed (Summarise 
the aims, objectives and purpose of the policy) 

JET Environmental Crime Policy- The team are required to investigate a 
number of Environmental Crimes which may include issuing fixed penalty 
notices, cautions/formal warnings, PACE interviews, seizure of vehicles, and 
prosecutions 

P
age 63



 

  

7. Is this a new policy or a review of an existing one? 
 

New 

8. Data & Engagement – what information did you 
gather and use and who have you consulted? 

These functions are statutory duties set out in relevant legislation and must 
be complied with, including: - 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
Control of Pollution Act 1989 
Regulation of Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
Environment Act 1995 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
Human Rights Act 1998 
Equalities Act 2010 
Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996 
UK GDPR Regs -Data Protection Act 2018 
Spelthorne Borough Council Byelaws 
 
 

   

  

P
age 64



 

  

9. Findings – Did you 
discover any adverse or 
positive impact on any of 
the following 9 equality 
strands? 

Identified Impacts Actions 

 Age (younger/older) 
 
 

Neutral Impact 
Enforcement work will exclude those below 
the criminal age of responsibility. 
Juveniles between the Ages of 10-17  
Vulnerable and Older Adults 
 

The laws allow a FPN to be issued to 
Juveniles. However, a parent would be 
informed and asked to be present for 
any enforcement action, interview and 
except in serious cases the matter dealt 
with by way of words of advice, verbal, 
or written warning. Vulnerable and 
Older adults will be dealt with as per the 
Crime Policy. 
To use customer feedback to monitor 
that no person is treated unfairly in our 
processes. 
 

 Disability (e.g. 
physical/sensory/unseen) 
 
 

Neutral Impact 
Access is considered when requesting 
customers to visit council offices for, interviews 
or meetings.  
Where known, a person’s abilities or 
disabilities are considered when requesting a 
person uses monitoring equipment, completes 
log sheets, or is requested to gather 
information. 
 

Hearing loops available if needed.  
Braille and large print available on 
request. 
Access to disabled friendly interview 
room & facilities if needed. 
Implementation of interview letters to 
be sent to person if ability/disability is 
disclosed to reduce need to attend 
Council Offices. 
To use customer feedback to monitor 
that no person is treated unfairly in our 
processes. 

 Gender/Sex 
(female/male) 
 
 

Neutral Impact 
Currently the JET team only has male officers 
to cover all aspects of the enforcement, 
educational and investigatory work.  

For formal interviews at the Council 
Offices then the Officers work in pairs. 
If specifically requested a female officer 
could be made available via a request to 
Environmental Health. 

P
age 65



 

  

Interview Rooms are covered by CCTV 
for the protection of all persons using 
room. 
To use customer feedback to monitor 
that no gender is treated unfairly in our 
processes. 
 

 Transgender (including 
process of gender re-
assignment) 
 

Neutral Impact 
We would not normally be aware of a person 
being Transgender or undergoing gender 
reassignment. If made aware we can take the 
persons individual needs into consideration 
where required 
 

To use customer feedback to monitor 
that no gender is treated unfairly in our 
processes. 

 Race/Ethnicity/Culture 
(Asian, Chinese, White, 
Black, Other and 
categories within these) 
 

Neutral Impact 
Officers have access to language line to offer 
translation services where required. 
 

Translation services have made 
contacting customers much easier and 
make sure that language is not a barrier 
for enforcement work. 
Publicity material is produced in several 
languages where the need is justified. 
To use customer feedback to monitor 
that this is being used appropriately. 
 

 Religion / Belief (Muslim, 
Sikh, Christian, Jewish, 
Hindu etc.) 
 

Neutral Impact 
Officers have received training during the 
Community Safety Accreditation Scheme and 
are aware of the important cultural differences 
and ways in which persons should be greeted 
and dealt with. 

To use customer feedback to monitor 
that no person is treated unfairly in our 
processes 

 Sexual Orientation 
(lesbian, gay, bisexual) 
 
 

Neutral Impact 
We would not be aware of a person’s sexual 
orientation. If made aware we can take the 
persons individual needs into consideration 
where required 

To use customer feedback to monitor 
that no person is treated unfairly in our 
processes 

P
age 66



 

  

 Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 

Neutral Impact 
We would not normally be aware of a person’s 
pregnancy or maternity. If made aware we can 
take the persons individual needs into 
consideration where required. 

To use customer feedback to monitor 
that this is being used appropriately 

 Human Rights 
 

Could Benefit 
The undertaking of enforcement work is to 
protect the wider community, and the 
environmental impact on communities from 
enviro-crime positively impacts on the whole 
communities’ lives. 
Enforcement work benefits the wider 
community by providing safer neighbourhoods 
and deals with the blight of Fly-tipping, 
Littering, dog fouling and other Anti-Social 
Activities. 

Enforcement action may result in 
prosecution and restriction of an 
individual’s actives and occupations. All 
notices or action is accompanied with 
details of how a person may appeal 
these measures. 
If enforcement action reaches 
prosecution stage, human rights are 
assessed by the courts to ensure that 
Human Rights are not breached, and 
appeals may be made. 
Investigations have found other 
impeaches of human rights – such as 
modern-day slavery and we work closely 
with police and other partners to 
improve human rights. 
 
 

 Socio Economic/ 
Multiple/Cross cutting 

Neutral Impact 
Initially legislation sets out where enforcement 
action may be taken or is required.  
Each regulatory function must fall within the 
requirements of the Councils Enforcement 
Policy. 
Where it is not in the public interest to 
undertake enforcement action, alternative 
interventions are used to support customers, 
such as referrals to other departments within 
the Council -Environmental Health, Building 
Control, Planning Enforcement, Licensing as 

To use customer feedback to monitor 
that this is being used appropriately. 
 
As regulation is reactive this will be 
assessed on an ongoing basis. 
Periodic review of enforcement policy 
and changes in legislation. 
If changes to legislation is likely to 
positively or negatively impact of and 
aspect of the community, i.e. by age, 
race, gender, sexual orientation, 
religious or belief or marital status and 

P
age 67



 

  

well as agencies such as public health, and 
signposting to agencies that can support 
people resolve their own issues such as Citizen 
Advice Bureau, Financial Support Agencies and 
Gang masters Support Agencies, other 
enforcement agencies(i.e. Environment 
Agency, Surrey County Council, National 
Highways). 
 
Specific officers are delegated with specific 
enforcement responsibilities dependant on the 
relevant experience, qualification, or 
competencies to undertake the regulatory 
functions. 
Systems are in place to ensure that decisions to 
undertake enforcement are proportional to the 
impact caused and within the public interest.  

equality impact assessments details how 
we will ensure equality. 
Training and Staff development is 
reviewed on a continual basis to ensure 
that officers are appropriately trained to 
undertake regulatory functions 

  

P
age 68



 

  

10. How does the policy fit with the Council’s wider 
objectives and priorities? 
 

Yes 

11. If you have discovered some inequalities/adverse 
impact what are you going to do to reduce/eliminate 
them? 
NB Positive impacts should also be recorded. 

None identified  

12 How and when will you monitor whether the adverse 
impact has been eliminated or reduced? 
(Guidance notes contain a template for an equality 
action plan that can be used. Alternatively ) 

Process will be subject to ongoing review and dependent on changes to 
legislation that will affect the current Environmental Crime Enforcement 
Policy. Staff are subject of Continual Performance Management where 
officer’s core competencies and training can be re-evaluated. 

   

 
Signed        Signed 
 
Department/Division Manager JET and Community Safety Teams  Group Head Neighbourhood Services 
 
Date 22/02/2023         Date  
 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Neighbourhood Services & Enforcement  

Committee  

22 June 2023 

 

1. Summary of the report 

1.1 This report proposes that the Council engages in a tender exercise for the 
construction of a new boardwalk along the southern side the River Ash in 
Woodthorpe Recreation Ground, Ashford, to benefit residents through the 
provision of an accessible circular route around the river while maintaining 
existing habitat for wildlife. 

2. Key issues 

2.1 The River Ash Restoration Project took place in 2020 with two main aims: to 
increase biodiversity by restoring the river to its natural state and to improve 
access for residents and visitors. The restoration project has met the first aim 
by creating excellent wetland habitat but visitors are not able to fully access 

Title 240m boardwalk down the eastern bank of the River Ash 
improvement site 

Purpose of the report To make a decision 

Report Author Andi Roy, Biodiversity Officer, Neighbourhood Services 

Ward(s) Affected Ashford Town 

Exempt No 

Exemption Reason n/a 

Corporate Priority Environment 

Recommendations 

 

Committee is asked to: 

1) Authorise the Group Head of Neighbourhood Services to 
go out to tender for the procurement of the River Ash 
Boardwalk 

2) Delegate authority to the Biodiversity Officer, Group Head 
of Neighbourhood Services and Chair of Neighbourhood 
Services and Enforcement committee to select the chosen 
supplier 

3) Authorise the Group Head of Corporate Governance to 
enter into the contract with the selected supplier 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

Within the River Ash Restoration Scheme, a circular path was 
created around the river to improve access but is subject to 
flooding. There is over £225,000 in the Bronzefield Reserves for 
expenditure on environmental enhancements. We propose a 
240m long boardwalk to improve access, costing approximately 
£180,000 inc. VAT. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



 
 

the site as intended in the second aim. A path was established on the 
southern bank from Woodthorpe Road to the A308 (Staines Bypass), 
however since the project finished we have noticed that there is significant 
(ankle-deep or more) standing water along this path for much of the year 
which turns to thick mud when water levels are lower. After discussions with 
HMP Bronzefield and the Environment Agency there are no definitive 
explanations as to why there is so much standing water, suggestions are that 
it may be this area has always had high water levels which were previously 
concealed by overgrown vegetation before the restoration project. 

2.2 A raised boardwalk would provide safe access for visitors, allowing the 
circular route around both sides of the river to be used as it was originally 
intended. Moreover, by encouraging people to keep to the boardwalk it would 
support the wildlife of the area by keeping human and dog disturbance to a 
minimum. This will provide safety for nesting and feeding animals. It would 
improve opportunities for the public to observe and learn about wildlife 
because they are more likely to see animals in a wetland environment that is 
undisturbed and undamaged. 

2.3 Spelthorne Borough Council has over £225,000 from a historic planning 
agreement called the Bronzefield Reserves which we can spend on 
environmental enhancements in this area. Cost estimations of a 240m long 
boardwalk are calculated at £180,000 based on the price of a 90m boardwalk 
installed elsewhere, which was sourced via a tendering exercise and where 
the most economically advantageous tender was selected. This boardwalk 
would be made of recycled plastic, as per the previous boardwalk, as this has 
high durability and requires little further maintenance. The boardwalk would 
be 1.5 metres wide with a handrail and would have at least two passing 
places. 

3. Options analysis and proposal 

3.1 Option 1 (Preferred): Enter into a procurement exercise for a contractor to 
construct a 240m long boardwalk down the southern bank of the River Ash. 
Under this proposal: 

(a) Park users will enjoy improved access to the circular walk, which is 
regularly flooded throughout the year. 

(b) Contractors carrying out maintenance around the site will be able to 
access all areas more easily. 

(c) A significant portion of money of the Bronzefield Reserves will be used 
for its intended purpose. 

(d) Value for money is ensured by going out to the market and running a 
tender exercise. 

3.2 Option 2: Do nothing and leave the path in its current state. Under this option: 

(a) The path will remain unusable to most park users for much of the year 
due to flooding underfoot. 

4. Financial implications 

4.1 The Council already has the sum of £225,994 in the Bronzefield Reserves to 
spend to spend on environmental improvements to this area. 

Page 72



 
 

4.2 The budget for the tender will be £180,000, with the estimated cost based on 
previous similar works. This is a capital project and it is estimated that this will 
leave us with approximately £45,000 to spend on continued maintenance. 

4.3 There will be revenue costs associated with maintenance of the new 
boardwalk, which will be met from the remainder of the Bronzefield Reserves 
money as with current maintenance of the site. 

5. Risk considerations 

5.1 The risks are conducive with any tender exercise in that tendered prices may 
be higher that expected. To reduce this risk we have limited the value of the 
proposed contract to £180,000. 

5.2 The correct procurement process will ensure that we get best value from the 
potential suppliers. 

6. Procurement considerations 

6.1 Procurement has been supporting the project to date and will continue to 
support the tendering exercise for a suitable contractor to meet the project 
requirements, to ensuring value for money is achieved from a compliant 
tender process. 

6.2 The value of the works is well below the threshold at which the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 apply. For this value of works a tender with a 
minimum of three contractors is required. 

6.3 It is noted that any contractor design will need planning approval, prior to the 
works commencement. 

7. Legal considerations 

7.1 Under an Agreement dated 27 January 2000 the Secretary of State for the 
Home Department agreed to transfer to the Council Bronzefield open space   
and to pay the Council a commuted sum. The commuted sum received in 
2012, was £319,000, of which £287,292 related to the maintenance of the 
open space. 

8. Other considerations 

8.1 Due to buried utilities on-site, the exact route of the boardwalk is not yet 
precisely defined and will be determined by contractors at the design stage, 
although it will largely follow the route of the existing footpath. It could 
therefore end up being slightly longer or shorter than 240m. 

8.2 Some small trees may need to be removed to facilitate construction. 

8.3 The existing pathway (not a legal right of way) will need to be closed to the 
public during construction works. As the path is currently extremely 
inaccessible this should not impact on users and it will be much enhanced 
when works are complete. 

9. Equality and Diversity 

9.1 The boardwalk will enable people with mobility problems to access the entire 
circular route envisaged as part of the restoration project where access is 
currently limited to those willing to walk through standing water and mud. 

10. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

Page 73



 
 

10.1 Our rivers are predicted to flood more frequently in the coming decades due 
to climate change so this raised boardwalk will become even more necessary 
in the future. The sustainability of the material used to make the boardwalk 
has been considered and plastic was chosen because although wood is 
cheaper, it will rot away quickly in the damp environment and need frequent 
maintenance. 

11. Timetable for implementation 

11.1 The tender process will begin as soon as approval is gained from committee 
to commence the procurement exercise. 

11.2 Ideally the installation of the boardwalk will take place in Autumn/Winter 2023 
but this will depend on contractor availability and suitable ground conditions. 
The Environment Agency’s permit may specify a time period when work 
should be avoided but this is unlikely given the habitats on site. 

12. Contact 

12.1 Andi Roy a.roy@spelthorne.gov.uk 01784 446415 

 
Background papers: There are none. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A: Boardwalk route 
A map setting out the basic route for the boardwalk (specifics of which will be 
decided in design phase). 

Page 74

mailto:a.roy@spelthorne.gov.uk


River Ash Restoration Site with the approximate route of the boardwalk shown in red: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



The boardwalk shown in a wider context: 

 

Page 76



 

Spelthorne Borough Council  
Services Committees Forward Plan and Key Decisions 

 
This Forward Plan sets out the decisions which the Service Committees expect to take over the forthcoming months, and identifies those which are Key Decisions. 
 
A Key Decision is a decision to be taken by the Service Committee, which is either likely to result in significant expenditure or savings or to have significant effects on those 
living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough. 
 
Please direct any enquiries about this Plan to CommitteeServices@spelthorne.gov.uk

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 8



 

Spelthorne Borough Council 
 

Service Committees Forward Plan and Key Decisions for 08 June 2023 to 31 October 2023 
 

Anticipated earliest (or 
next) date of decision 
and decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer 

Members' briefing pack 
14 06 2023 
 

SDS Accounts Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Jackie Taylor, Group Head - Neighbourhood 
Services 

Members' briefing pack 
14 06 2023 
 

SDS Update Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Graham Boswell, Business Development 
Officer 

Neighbourhood Services 
and Enforcement 
Committee 22 06 2023 
 

240m Boardwalk down the 
Eastern Bank of the River 
Ash Improvement Site 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Andi Roy, Bio-Diversity Officer 

Neighbourhood Services 
and Enforcement 
Committee 22 06 2023 
 

JET Environmental Crime 
Policy 

Key Decision 
It is significant in terms of its effect on 
communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more wards 
 

Public Martin Cole, Neighbourhoods Manager 

Neighbourhood Services 
and Enforcement 
Committee 05 10 2023 
 

Q and A with Borough 
Commander 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Jackie Taylor, Group Head - Neighbourhood 
Services 

Neighbourhood Services 
and Enforcement 
Committee 05 10 2023 

Road Channel Sweeping Non-Key Decision Public Jackie Taylor, Group Head - Neighbourhood 
Services 

P
age 78


	Agenda
	 Terms of Reference
	2 Minutes
	6 Joint Enforcement Team- Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy
	JET- Environmental Crime Policy
	EIA form - Crime Policy1

	7 240m Boardwalk down the Eastern Bank of the River Ash Improvement Site
	Appendix A - Boardwalk Route

	8 Forward Plan

